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--- On commencing at  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 19:40 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in the matter of application EB-2007-0050 pursuant to section 92 of the Ontario Energy Board Act submitted by Hydro One Networks Inc.

The application is for leave to construct a transmission reinforcement project between the Bruce Power facility and the Milton switching station.

Last week parties met to develop an issues list for this proceeding.  The Board sits today to consider the issues list and hear submissions on the contested issues.

My name is Pamela Nowina.  I will be the presiding member in this hearing.  Joining me on the panel is Ms. Cynthia Chaplin.  Mr. Bill Rupert is away at this time and will not be deciding the issues list in this case.  He will be on the Panel for the remainder of the hearing.

May I have appearances, please?
Appearances


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Michael Millar for Board Staff.  With me is Mr. Nabi Mikhail.  

Just by way of introduction to the system, I know some people may be new to actually appearing at the Board.  When you want to speak, you will see there is a green light on your -- on the panel in front of you.  When the light is on, your mike is on.  When the light is off, your mike is off.  You just press it to turn it off and on.  

I would ask that you keep it off when you are not speaking, because they're quite sensitive and they will pick up things you may not have intended be recorded.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Other appearances.

MR. NETTLETON:  Good morning.  Gordon Nettleton appearing for Hydro One Networks Inc.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.

MR. FALLIS:  Peter Fallis appearing for the Fallis Group.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.

MR. ROSS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Quinn Ross appearing for the Ross Firm group.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel members.  Murray Klippenstein appearing for Pollution Probe, and with me is Basil Alexander.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.

MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, Tom Adams on behalf of Energy Probe, and David MacIntosh, as well.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.

MS. ROSENGARTEN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Joanna Rosengarten for Bruce Power.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Rosengarten.

MR. RATTRAY:  John Rattray for the IESO.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rattray.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning.  Richard Stephenson appearing as counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

MR. BETTLE:  Good morning.  Peter Bettle for Great Lakes Power.

MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, I didn't get your last name.  Bettle?

MR. BETTLE:  That is correct.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Frank Sperduti appearing for Powerline Connections.  With me I have Richard Manias from our firm.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Sperduti.  Do I have everyone? 

Before we begin on the issues list, are there any preliminary matters?
Procedural Matters


Mr. Millar, have you and the parties discussed a manner of proceeding?

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, we have had very brief discussions, and I believe everyone agrees that it probably makes sense to simply go through only the contested issues, obviously, unless the Panel has any questions about the agreed-to issues, which I don't think there are any.

Since there are a number of issues, it probably makes sense to go through them issue by issue.  As I understand, the parties are in agreement with that.  Unless anyone feels otherwise, I think we could probably just start with issue 1.1 and go through them that way.

The normal order would be that the party proposing the issue would go first, and then there would be people speaking in support of the proposed issue, and then those opposing, and then I guess there is often a right of reply, if anyone needs that. 

So that is how I would suggest we proceed.  As far as I am aware, there is no objection to that.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  No comments to that?  It works for everyone?

All right, we will get right into it then.  So we all have a copy of the contested issues list as sent out by Board Staff?  Does anyone not have a copy?
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 1.1


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  We will begin, then, with what I see on my contested issues list as the first, which is issue 1, project need and justification.  The proposed or the contested issue reads as:   
"Is it appropriate for Hydro One to have relied as it has on the OPA for the need for the project and the route and corridor selection?  Further, has Hydro One properly considered the OPA's current 20-year plan?"

I understand that this is proposed by Powerline Connections; is that correct?

MR. SPERDUTI:  It is, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Sperduti, did you want to begin then?
Submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Sure.  Thank you, and I apologize for being a little late this morning.

I just want to preface my comments with a couple of general observations, Madam Chair, and those are as follows:  Obviously we're not here today to decide any given issue.  So allowing an issue to remain on the list doesn't determine the issue, but I suggest to you that removing it from the list does.  

So I urge upon you, respectfully, to be very cautious in terms of the issues that are removed.  If there is a concern about jurisdiction, leaving the issue on the list doesn't necessarily mean that a particular issue is admittedly in the Board's jurisdiction.  We can argue those questions at the hearing, if necessary.  But I would suggest that it is only in the clearest circumstances where an issue that's proposed ought to be removed.

So with that preface, moving to the first issue, contested issue.  This falls under the category that Board Staff proposed in the agreed-upon issues list, which is project need and justification.

We have heard throughout the course of this proceeding, several times, Hydro One refer to the requirements and mandates of OPA in prompting the need for this process, and, in particular, the urgent need for the process.

In fact, I think Hydro One's position throughout has been we're doing this because OPA has told us to and OPA has set the timelines, and somehow Hydro One has not, at least thus far in the proceeding, taken enough responsibility for the issue, from our perspective, despite its lengthy submission in the application.

So if we're going to understand the basis for the need and justification of the project, I think it is critical for us to be able to make interrogatories of Hydro and force Hydro One to disclose what other information it has received from OPA, if they're going to fall back on OPA for the need and justification for the project.

If OPA is behind need and justification, then our position is, clearly, keeping this issue on the list is appropriate.

With respect to the current 20-year plan, our position with that is that the most recent press releases that we are aware of indicate that the reactors that are going to require the transmission capacity won't be in service until sometime in mid 2013.  The in-service date I believe now is some time in 2012, bumped back from the December 2011 time frame initially proposed in Hydro's application.  

But one of our concerns throughout this process - and I will speak to it again later - is that the whole thing is being done in the absence of a full consideration or a full environmental-assessment report, and part of our submission is that it is not realistic to do a proper cost benefit analysis in the absence of a full environmental-assessment report.

So this issue of timing is very important.  If OPA's current 20-year plan doesn't require the line to be in service until 2013, Powerline Connections says, Why the rush?  

So, again, this issue isn't being -- we're not asking for determination of the issue today, Madam Chair.  We're simply asking that the issue remain on the list for parties to make interrogatories about, and explore at the hearing.  


Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Parties supporting that position wish to make a comment?  Mr. Fallis. 

Submissions by Mr. Fallis


MR. FALLIS:  I would be next.  I adopt wholeheartedly what Mr. Sperduti has stated.  I adopt wholeheartedly on behalf of the Fallis group what Mr. Sperduti has stated.  


I would indicate that one of the reasons why the urgency must be challenged and tested by this Board is because of the fact that the -- what we are doing is, in concept -- forgetting about the wind power addition to 

it is putting back into service two units that were previously out of service.


Bruce Power -- the Bruce facility has Bruce A and Bruce B, each of which have four units, for a total of eight units.  They were constructed and were designed to generate approximately 3,000 megawatts per hour power from each of Bruce A and Bruce B, which is effectively 6,000.   And because Bruce B had more generation capacity, it is a little bigger.


The lines, the power lines that were -- transmission lines that were created for those facilities were designed to take its maximum potential out.  Those lines have been built.  The fact that two lines have been -- two units have been taken out of service do not -- there was no destruction of the transmission capacity.  It was there.  


So the fact that the transmission capacity has always been there to carry the full production out of the Bruce suggests that -- because the claim is bringing these two units back on to the Bruce is the reason for the need for the new transmission lines.  


The Bruce has always had the capability of transmitting all of its production out of the Bruce, and to bring back in the line what has been taken out of the line doesn't change the transmission capacity.  So the statement in the material that there is only 5,000 megawatts of capacity must be challenged and that, therefore, goes to the question of urgency.


Therefore, I think the Board has to, as part of its mandate, must ask that very question:  Has Hydro One relied on OPA for the need, or has it done its own studies?  


Has Hydro One properly considered the Ontario Power Authority's current 20-year plan?  I think that is crucial, and it is at the core of what this hearing is about.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.  


Mr. Ross, do you want to make a comment?  


MR. ROSS:  I adopt the submissions of Mr. Fallis and Mr. Sperduti.  I would only add one further thing -- 


MS. NOWINA:  Your mike is not on, sir.  


MR. ROSS:  Sorry, thank you.  I would only add one further thing and that is that when assessing the --


MS. NOWINA:  You two probably are sharing a mike.  The mikes are for two desks together.  


MR. ROSS:  Quit turning off my mike, Peter. 


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, thank you.  

Submissions by Mr. Ross


MR. ROSS:  When assessing the effect to the ratepayer, which is squarely within the mandate of the OEB, obviously if the project's need can't be justified or more cost-efficient alternatives are available, that has to be taken into consideration; and this form of disclosure, which would be made available by maintaining this issue on the list, is, I think, imperative in the fulsome investigation of this aspect of the Board's mandate when determining the application.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  Does anyone else want to speak in support? Mr. Klippenstein?  

Submissions by Mr. Klippenstein


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Pollution Probe does support the inclusion of this issue regarding the reliance of Hydro One on the OPA because when we looked at the evidence, we were very puzzled about the role that the OPA information has played, and when we looked at the filing requirements for a case like this, we were also buttressed in our tentative conclusion that this should be more closely examined.


I will ask you if you could turn to a Pollution Probe document book for issues day that we prepared for convenience, and I don't think there is anything new in it.  Most of the documents are straight out of the evidence, and there is one Supreme Court of Canada excerpt.  And, if necessary, I could perhaps ask that this be marked an exhibit for convenience unless somebody objects.  


MS. NOWINA:  We will mark it as an exhibit, unless anyone has a concern about that.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, that will be Exhibit KI, for issues day, K I.1.


MR. MILLAR:  Actually, 1.1, just on the very off chance we go to two days.

EXHIBIT NO. KI.1.1:  POLLUTION PROBE BOOK OF DOCUMENTS


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  The reason Pollution Probe supports this is because Pollution Probe is concerned that the project, when all is said and done, can't be justified at all on economic grounds, in other words, that this vast sum of money of more than $600 million of ratepayers money doesn't need to be spent.  So that is obviously a very serious foundational question.  


That wraps very closely together with the OPA's role, because you have to ask:  Well, is Hydro One being told by OPA, "You must do this"?  Certainly, as far as I can see, Hydro One is saying this is what is called a non-discretionary project, so we don't have any choice in this.


Now, just to further show why we are concerned about this and why this should be an issue, if you would turn to, first of all, tab 3 of the book, Exhibit KI.1.1, which is part of the evidence filed of the correspondence between OPA and Hydro One on this issue.  In a letter dated March 23, 2007 from Ms. Formusa at Hydro One, from Jan Carr, CEO of OPA, the first sentence says:

"The purpose of this letter is to urge Hydro One Networks to initiate the activities related to the project under consideration here."


But then the last sentence in the letter, under the heading "conclusion" – and I have marked this last sentence -- it says:

"If you choose to proceed with this project as the project proponent, you will have the support of the OPA."


And so I just highlight the words "if you choose to proceed", which doesn't sound to me like a direct instruction.  It sounds to me like a recognition that Hydro One has a choice.  


And that interplay between, or question of whether, is there a choice, is this non-discretionary, suggests to me it is very important to ask:  Exactly what is OPA's role here?  Does Hydro One have a choice?  Is OPA instructing, demanding that Hydro One proceed?  And in that question, you have to then say:  Well, if OPA is -- they use the word "urge" -- and if Hydro One is relying on this, then, so who is actually going to stand up and defend this?  Is everybody just pointing further down the line?  


Again, we think that is important because on the numbers that we see -- and we haven't seen all of the evidence, we don't know where -- our minds are open, but we're pretty strongly concerned that this project perhaps is not justifiable at all.  


As my grandmother used to say, if it's not worth doing at all, it is not worth doing well.  And I can call her as a witness, if you want.  


[Laughter]


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  On the same issue, we were concerned, it is just what was the chain of authority between Hydro One and OPA that, in terms of the evidence --  and we have pulled out the filing requirements initiated by the Board, and those are at tab 2 of the Pollution Probe called document book, Exhibit KI.1.1.  You will see a covering letter, and then the title page entitled "Filing Requirements for Transmission and Distribution Applications, November 14th, 2006".


Without trying to take up a whole lot of time, if I could ask you to turn to subsection 5.3.1, entitled "Evidence in support of need".  I have highlighted a number of sentences and I apologize for the amount there but it is really important.  I would just like to read the highlighted parts.

Again, this is, as I understand it, the Board's position about what evidence is required in an application such as this.  It says:
"In some cases, the need for a discretionary or a non-discretionary project is driven by factors external to the applicant, such as the need to satisfy an IESO requirement, but the burden remains on the applicant to support the claim of need.  If the applicant identifies a customer or agency as the driver behind the project, it is the applicant's responsibility to include evidence from that customer or agency as part of the evidence on the application.  The Board expects the applicant to work with that external party in the development of the required evidence.  In many cases the external party will be the IESO and/or the OPA.  The evidence will likely consist of written material prepared by the customer or agency specifically addressing the proposed project, and the customer or agency must be prepared to provide witnesses to support the filed evidence if an oral hearing is held.  It is not sufficient for the applicant to state that the customer or agency has established the need for the project.  The Board must be able to test that assertion."

So what that raises, in my mind, is the sort of prior stated framework and obligation from the Board to say, If you're going to rely on an external agency, we, the Board, have to be able to test what you say that that other agency says, which makes sense to me, from the Board's legal jurisdiction to be a sober second thought and a genuine test rather than just a rubber stamp.  

In fact, this Board description talks about being -- about having witnesses from that other agency.

So I don't see any suggestion that OPA is going to bring witnesses to describe why it says it thinks this needs to be urgently done.

So I am not even sure that the filing meets the basic requirements that the Board has set out.  I mean, I don't even know -- Pollution Probe may say at the end, if Hydro One is asserting that it's OPA's justification, and we have no evidence from -- a few pieces of paper from OPA -- Pollution Probe may say at the end of this hearing that the whole thing should be struck out as being fundamentally deficient on an evidentiary basis from day 1.

In Pollution Probe's view, if Hydro One is saying this is a non-discretionary project, as I understand they're saying, even so, according to the Board's filing, they have to bring in evidence from the OPA that allows you to do your job, in my respectful submission.  And, in my respectful submission, that also includes saying, you know -- and I don't want to belabour this, but in an earlier appearance in this matter, I pointed out to you two pages of evidence from Hydro One, and I have included it as tab 1 of the document book in case you want to read it.

Hydro One's own projection of additional net electricity going through this new line is zero.  It is zero every year.  It is zero for the whole thing.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Klippenstein, pardon me for interrupting, but the factors that you have just been discussing, would they not be covered under the agreed issue 1.1?

I am not quite sure if the factors that you're bringing to bear really relate to the contested issue or if they're not right there in 1.1.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Partly yes, but partly no.  And I thought about that issue, and the reason I say partly no is issue sub 1 is framed as the question of whether the project qualifies as a non-discretionary project.  That is a separate important question, and that is important and certainly we would address that, hopefully.


But that doesn't deal with the other question of evidence from the OPA to justify it, and that is why this issue, the proposed contested issue, which talks specifically about the role and reliance on and of OPA, adds an important perspective, because you could deal with 1.1 and still not fully and squarely address the fundamental issue of need through OPA, as I see it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Those are all of my sub
missions on that contested issue.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.  Anyone else supporting this issue?

All right.  Those opposed?  Mr. Nettleton.
Submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The issue that my friends have raised, I think, in my respectful submission, goes to a much bigger question that I think at the outset requires thought and consideration and agreement upon, and that is:  What's the purpose of an issues list?

An issues list is not, in my respectful submission, intended to identify each and every specific interrogatory that may be asked to the applicant regarding its application.

Instead, the issues list is intended to scope the evidence that is going to be heard and considered in this process -- in your process.  It is intended to provide definition.  It is intended to assist parties and assist the Board in respect of the evidence that is likely going to be heard and touched upon.

The issue that Powerlines Connections has raised with respect to the first contested issue can be and should be subsumed into what we already have agreed upon in the agreed-upon issues list and, in particular, issue 1.2.

1.2 says:   
"Is the project suitably chosen and sufficiently scalable so as to meet all reasonably foreseeable future needs of significantly increased or significantly reduced generation in the Bruce area?"

Now, this process is obviously not one which is intended to hear evidence or to provide counsel's views on what the evidence should be.  It is intended to discuss what the evidence that is about to be heard and submitted by all parties should be in respect of this proceeding, this application.

Whether Hydro One has, in its application, relied upon particular evidence, whether it is the OPA's letter or whether it is other matters, but the reality is whatever Hydro One has relied upon, and is found in its application materials relating to the support for the relief that Hydro One is seeking, are matters which we believe should be considered in this process, and its evidence and the reliance that Hydro One is placing upon that evidence should be appropriately tested.

Section 1.2 or issue 1.2 begs the question of whether or not Hydro One has carried out a suitable means of assessing and determining the project that it has applied for, and the basis and the rationale for that choice is as spelled out in Hydro One's application.

We don't believe that there is any value in dropping down a level beyond that broader area and touch upon specific areas that we would expect would be the subject matter of interrogatories.  If a party wishes to ask Hydro One questions about the OPA letter that is found in Hydro One's application and which Hydro One is relying upon, that seems like a reasonable and logical approach; but it doesn't cause that particular matter, in my respectful submission, to be elevated to an issues list item which is intended for the purpose of scoping the evidence, the overall evidence, of this proceeding.

So, in my respectful submission, Madam Chair, this issue really is not one which needs to be included.  We believe that it is already the pith and substance of the issue that is being discussed here; namely, the reliance of Hydro One's application -- or how Hydro One's application deals with the OPA is a matter that can be touched upon and is included in 1.2.

There is one other, I think, important factor that we should discuss, as well, in what's proposed in 1.1, and I suspect it is going to be the matter of further discussion in this process, and that relates to be the words surrounding "route" and "corridor" that are found in 1.1.  

To be clear, there is an important distinction between route and corridor.  And to be clear, Hydro One takes the view that detailed routing issues are not a matter that is intended to be debated and discussed in respect of this application.  Detailed routing matters are issues that are going to be the subject matter and result from the consideration of an environmental assessment.  That process, as you know, is underway.  But it is going to 
be -- the outcome of the EA process is ultimately going to have impact upon questions of whether there are environmental-assessment decisions, or reasons, for any type of specific detailed routing reconsideration.  

We discussed this in the early access proceeding and we noted at that time that if, in those circumstances, albeit in Hydro One's view unlikely at the current time, we would then have to come back to the Board potentially and make appropriate amendments accordingly.  

But to get into a discussion here, and to have an issues list include reference to both corridor and route, raises the question of whether or not we are going to get into a debate about whether the appropriate corridor has been selected or whether the appropriate detailed routing process that Hydro One has gone through is appropriate.  

With respect to the corridor, I think that does touch upon matters which we can discuss and have discussed in the application.  

With respect to detailed routing, we believe that that is a matter that should be saved for another day and through the EA process.  

Thank you, Madam Chair.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Others opposed to the inclusion of this issue?  

MR. STEPHENSON:  Madam Chair -- 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, I just have a quick question for Mr. Nettleton, just so there is no ambiguity in my mind.

Other than the last qualification that you made with respect to the difference between corridor and route, are you saying that Hydro One accepts that the topics that are raised in this contested issue, 1.1, are appropriate areas of enquiry for this proceeding?  

MR. NETTLETON:  With respect to what is included in Hydro One's application, and the reliance that Hydro One has placed upon documents that Hydro One has received from the OPA, we believe those documents are the fair subject matter of testing and consideration in this proceeding.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stephenson?  Sorry, Mr. Nettleton, you had another point?  

MR. NETTLETON:  One point, just to clear any ambiguity.

There has been some suggestion that part of the problem with this process that we're about to encounter is that OPA is not going to be at the table.  We can confirm with parties and the Board that OPA witnesses are intended to appear.  I suspect that they will be empanelled as part of a Hydro One panel of witnesses.  We haven't worked out those details yet, but that is directionally where we're going.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Stephenson.  
Submissions by Mr. Stephenson 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

On behalf of the Power Workers, we oppose the contested issue as framed.  That said, I don't think there is any issue that at the end of the day the applicant must satisfy the Board with respect to project need.  And at the end of the day, as the Board's guidelines make it clear, Hydro can't pass the buck on to somebody else and the Board simply accept that at face value.

From our perspective, however, we oppose on the basis of two things.  Number one is that we agree that it is already covered under the project-need issue.  But secondly, there is sort of a pejorative element in terms of how the contested issue has been framed, which in our view is, in effect, irrelevant.  Whether or not Hydro has -- how it has relied and whether it was appropriate or inappropriate is, at the end of the day, from our perspective is irrelevant to the Board's consideration.  

At the end of the day, the issue that the Board has to determine is:  Has project need been established?  However it has been established.  If the project need has not been established, then that has a series of consequences; if a project need has been established, that has a series of consequences.  But reliance or non-reliance is, at the end of the day, not really relevant to the Board's consideration.

From our perspective the question is:  Has need been established, however that has been established?  

So in our submission, I don't know whether there is some minor tweaking that needs to be done to the current wording.  From our perspective, no.  But certainly we don't oppose any suggestion that project need is on the table, and ultimately the Board has to determine that.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stephenson, is there an issue on the agreed issues list that uses your words, "has the need been established"?  

MR. STEPHENSON:  We thought it was subsumed in 1.2, but on the other hand, we wouldn't have any objection to either 1.2 being amended or there being some other number that says:  "Has project need been established?"


But that's -- I don't think there is any doubt that that is on the table.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Nettleton, would you oppose to an issue worded something like Mr. Stephenson just said?  

MR. NETTLETON:  A couple of thoughts:  We agree that 1.2 -- when we read 1.2, we saw the issue of need, and we see the filing requirements as causing Hydro One to meet that onus of establishing that the project is in the public interest and needed.  

We get there when we read the words, "Is the project suitably chosen and sufficiently scaleable so as to meet all reasonably foreseeable future needs?" 

It strikes me that that question, that issue addresses:  Is the project needed?  So we were quite -- that is why we agreed upon the issue.  That strikes us to be broad enough to -- and for parties to take issue.

Mr. Klippenstein, for example, may very well wish to challenge the need, based upon the evidence that he has placed in his authorities book; and interpretation of need, we would see that as part of the discovery process and the consideration in 1.2.  

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

Any other parties opposed to this issue?  Mr. Adams.  
Submissions by Mr. Adams


MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, on behalf of Energy Probe, we're largely in support of the positions that have been espoused by Hydro One and the Power Workers' Union, and particularly are comforted by the indication from Hydro One's counsel that they intend to bring witnesses from the OPA.

One concern we have, although we're supportive of their views, is that the OPA is not a party in the intervenors list.  All of the other major players are.  

I know that -- I don't believe the Board has the authority to order a party to the table, but it might be appropriate to invite the OPA to participate directly in the proceedings, so that the presentation of evidence is facilitated and the parties that are clearly playing a central role in the application are officially presented before you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.

Mr. Millar, are you going to make submissions to make on this point?

MR. MILLAR:  Not on this issue, Madam Chair.  

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Sperduti, do you have any reply?  
Further Submissions by Mr. Sperduti 

MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, I do, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  

On one hand, Mr. Nettleton says that the issues list is there to scope the evidence, and on the other hand he says:  Well, why do we have to be so specific about the issues?  

My response to that is because if we're not, Hydro One is going to say the issue isn't relevant, and clearly need is relevant.


So in terms of his general submission about why do we have to be so specific about the issues, I think that there is clearly a need to do so if this is going to scope the evidence that the Board is going to hear, because it is going to scope the disclosure that we are going to receive.


With respect to the issue of including reference to reliance upon OPA and whether it is necessary to do that, or whether it is sufficient to just say, Has need been established, I think it is important to go back and look at the letter that OPA sent to Hydro One, which Pollution Probe has included in their Exhibit KI.1.1, and this is the letter to Ms. Formusa.  And if I could ask you to turn that up, please.


At the top of page 2 of the letter, the first sentence says:

"Provincial land-use policy requires that existing transmission corridors be utilized to the extent possible for new transmission lines.  This policy narrows the transmission options to two alternatives, from Bruce to Milton or from Bruce to Essa via Orangeville."


I would like to see the provincial land-use policy that OPA is relying upon, because I have pulled the provincial policy statement on land use for the Province of Ontario and it doesn't say that.  In fact, it says something completely different.  It says that you should intensify existing infrastructure before you build new infrastructure.  


It says that -- it says nothing about keeping transmission corridors along the same lines.  In fact, what it says is that they should be strategically located to ensure the delivery of infrastructure during emergency times, emergency management services.


So first I query:  What is the basis for this request that Hydro is relying so specifically on?  


And the other thing that I wanted to bring to your attention was Mr. Nettleton's response to your query about discovery of documents.  Mr. Nettleton says, We think that it is fair for the parties to be able to look at the documents that are in our filing, in response to a specific question from the Board.  


He didn't say, We will cooperate and produce other documentation that is relevant to need and support for the project that may be in the possession of OPA that form the basis for the request.  What he says is, What is in the filing is fair.


Well, with all due respect, it is not enough.  So, I am already coming to understand that unless this issue is specifically included as it is prepared, we're not going to get anything more than what we've got, unless the Board mandates it, which means we're back for motions on whether it is relevant to disclose further documentation.


That is my submission with respect to that point.


Mr. Nettleton draws the distinction between routes and corridors and suggests that it is beyond the consideration of this Board to look at routes.  Maybe it is okay to look at corridors.  


That sentence or those two sentences in OPA's letter keep coming back to me:  "This policy narrows the transmission options to two alternatives."


When are we going to have a consideration of alternatives as they relate to public interest, specifically pricing, reliability and quality of electrical service, which is clearly within this Board's mandate?


If we're not going to have a discussion about what alternatives can accomplish the objectives better at this hearing, are we ever going to have it?


The EA process is not set up for parties to make specific submissions about routes and corridors.  There is a public consultation process, but it is not a hearing process.  It's a political process.


So our suggestion, Madam Chair, is that there is nothing to suggest that it's beyond the Board's jurisdiction to look at routes, as well as corridors.  We need to understand what are the options, how do they relate to pricing, quality and reliability of electrical service, and is there a better option?


So for those reasons, Madam Chair, we maintain our request that the issue be included in the list as drafted.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much.  That completes the submissions on that issue, contested issue 1.1.

PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 1.2


Moving to contested issue 1.2, the issue reads as:  

"Should leave to construct be granted now, or should the consideration of the need and justification for the line and the leave to construct being sought be deferred until the completion of an approved environmental-assessment report or, alternatively, at least approval of the EA terms of reference?"


Our notes were that Powerlines Connections again was a proponent of this.  Mr. Sperduti, back to you.

Submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Of course I expect to hear argument from my friend about how nothing environmental is relevant to this process, but clearly what is relevant to the process is the determination of how alternatives proposed can achieve the objective and deliver a best-cost and reliable electrical service.


So the question about whether or not leave to construct should be granted now or whether it ought to be deferred until the completion of an EA or terms of reference is something that is clearly relevant to the Board's process.  The Board should understand what alternatives had been considered as part of the EA.


As I said at the beginning, we're not asking that this issue be determined today.  I'm not sitting here saying leave should not be granted unless the EA is completed.  The question is:  Should it be granted in the absence of the EA, and would it be appropriate at the end of the day to make a conditional order that leave is granted provided the EA is completed?  


Those are clearly appropriate questions.


For example, if the EA process determines a preferred route or corridor that varies from what Hydro One is proposing in its leave-to-construct application, then my submission is that this whole process starts over, because the leave-to-construct application is premised on one thing, and the EA approval may be granted on a different thing.


So if that is the case, what will that do for the ratepayers?  Our submission is that Hydro One is courting the risk that the EA process will yield an outcome that matches its leave-to-construct application, and they're courting that risk at the cost of the ratepayers.  

 
Why would it not be appropriate for us to explore these issues at the hearing and see whether it is appropriate, in these circumstances, to court that risk?  Maybe it worked before and maybe it has been the basis for a prior Board order, but surely it is something that we should explore in this process.  


MS. NOWINA:  Just to interrupt you for a moment, Mr. Sperduti.  Mr. Millar, I'm giving you a heads-up I am going to ask you for a submission on this.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


MR. SPERDUTI:  With respect to -- so I think that is the most compelling reason why to leave the issue on the list.  But there are other reasons to leave the issue on the list.  


The Board is going to be asked to determine whether the alternative that is being proposed by the proponent is the best alternative, or, in the Board's filing requirements - my friend pointed us to it a moment ago - is it a better project than the alternatives?


Our submission is, in the absence of an EA, who is going to set the alternatives?  What alternatives are we going to be talking about?  Is Hydro One going to have its two alternatives both within the same corridor varying only slightly?  Is there going to be a consideration of broader alternatives?

The Board is being asked to determine what alternative is better than another in a vacuum, without knowing what the alternatives are, because Hydro One hasn't proposed any alternative in its leave-to-construct application.  So where are the alternatives going to come from?  

So my submission to you is, of course it's appropriate to leave the issue on the list and parties will lead evidence about it.  Hopefully the Board will not be asked to make a decision about alternatives in a vacuum. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Sperduti, if I may.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes?

MS. CHAPLIN:  The particular issue about the alternatives, that was sort of how I interpreted the agreed issue 2.1, which is:  Have all reasonable alternatives to the project been identified and considered?  Would that not be the area where you would say:  In this other venue there maybe another set of alternatives, and therefore you haven't -- Hydro One hasn't met an onus to put forward the right alternatives. 

I guess I'm just curious what your proposed additional issue adds to that aspect.  

MR. SPERDUTI:  Specifically, we haven't seen any alternatives, and between now and the hearing, presumably somebody is going to come up with some alternatives.  

I think that the question about, "Have all reasonable alternatives to the project been considered?" is slightly different than, "Is it appropriate to grant leave now or wait until the completion of the EA?"

As I said in my very first submission, Hydro is courting the risk that the EA may differ from the leave to construct, in which case they have to start the whole process again and we have all wasted, I venture to say, millions of taxpayer or ratepayer dollars on this process.  

So the issue that we have brought to the table in number 2 differs from the question about, "Have all reasonable alternatives been considered?"  I think it goes specifically to:  Ought the leave to be granted now; should it be conditional on completion of the EA?  Is it appropriate to make such an order?  

I think that it is short-sighted to try to gauge alternatives and determine whether or not leave to construct a specific, defined project ought to be granted, without any reference or understanding about the environmental-assessment process.  

I recognize that this Board will not deal with environmental issues, but this Board has to make a choice amongst alternatives.  It is being asked to do so in a vacuum, without the EA analysis.  Not to mention it could all end up being for nothing.

Did I respond to your question?  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, that's fine.  Thank you.  

MR. SPERDUTI:  So in terms of is this question relevant to the Board's enquiry,  I submit that it is surely relevant.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Actually, maybe I will follow on a bit, Mr. Sperduti.

Mr. Millar can correct me if I'm wrong, but I believe all of our leave to construct -- in all cases where we grant an order for leave to construct, there is always a condition which requires that the proponent have all other approvals that are necessary, whether that is water crossing or, in this case, an EA approval.  So I think that would be the case.


The other is I don't think this Board chooses from amongst alternatives, we decide whether or not to grant leave for the project as it is proposed.  We do not approve -- if we saw a series of alternatives and saw one that was way better, I suppose we might comment on that, but we cannot grant leave to construct an alternative.  We merely make the decision on what is proposed.  So I guess I am still struggling with what your issue sort of adds to that, given those two factors.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Well, with all due respect, I don't think that it is determinative in this case that the Board has done it before.  Maybe that is true.  Maybe the Board has granted leave conditional on the completion of an EA or other required approvals.  

But that doesn't mean to say that it is not appropriate to have a consideration of the issue in this proceeding.  Maybe it is not appropriate in this case to make such a conditional order.  That is the issue we want to explore with the Board.  We're not asking for you to determine it.  We just want to be able to explore it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  

MR. SPERDUTI:  And with respect to the second part of your question, basically what it comes down to is:  Should you grant leave for this application?  Should you grant leave for this proposed construction, or not?

We wouldn't ask the Board to grant leave to construct another alternative; but surely, whether there is another alternative that better suits the ratepayers, or that in the Board's filing requirements is better than the option proposed by Hydro One, then surely the Board will want to know about that.

So the consideration of alternatives is important for the Board's decision on whether or not leave should be granted.  I hope I'm being clear about that.  We wouldn't ask for leave to construct another alternative to be granted.  

MS. NOWINA:  Those are your submissions, Mr. Sperduti?  

MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes.  

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar, could you make some clarifying submissions at this point?  
Submissions by Mr. Millar


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, if you wish, Madam Chair.  I have tried to whip something up here, but if it is not responsive to what you actually want me to speak about, I encourage you to ask some questions and I will try to be more responsive.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess what I would say is, to a certain extent I agree with Mr. Sperduti, that if the EA comes back and approves something significantly different than what Hydro One is seeking, then our approval lapses.  It doesn't apply.

For example, if the EA, through the terms of reference to the final approval, says, "You're not doing Bruce to Milton, you have to do Bruce to Essa", obviously - and I am sure Mr. Nettleton wouldn't disagree with me - any Board approval granting leave to construct from Bruce to Milton doesn't apply from Bruce to Essa.  They would to start all over again.

So that is at Hydro One's risk; they have chosen to do that.  They're facing significant time pressures, or you will hear that from Mr. Nettleton, I'm sure, so they have decided to proceed before an EA.  That is at their risk.


But Mr. Sperduti is also right that there is some risk to ratepayers and the landowners.  There are some costs with proceeding with an application, just the regulatory costs for that.  And I suspect when you look at Hydro One's revenue requirement, it is not very much and it is almost insignificant, really.  But there are also some -- I mean the landowners have to show up here.  If nothing else, it is a hassle for them, though I think that their costs are obviously covered by Hydro One.  

As Mr. Sperduti has realized, there is certainly precedent for this.  As you've said, Ms. Chaplin, all of our approvals, I believe - I believe you are correct and I can confirm - require that it is conditional on all other approvals being met, whether that be EA or anything else.  In effect, there are certainly precedents where the Board has specifically granted a leave-to-construct approval contingent on the EA being completed.  

So we have done that in the past, and I don't think there is any prohibition on you doing that now.  

One other thing I could remind you of is on the Motions Day for this proceeding -- actually not this proceeding, for the access to land proceeding, this was brought up, at least in a roundabout way.  If I could remind the Panel what you said on that occasion.  I am looking at -- this is the decision in Order on Motion from, the date is July 4th of this year, at the top of Page 5. I will just read what the Board said in relation to this issue:

"The Board, however, is of the view that the two processes should not be significantly out of step." 

And I'm talking about the EA and the leave-to-construct application.  Or it might have been the access to land in that case, but generally the same file.
"For example, the leave to construct would be significantly affected if the EA terms of reference did not include the same route.  Therefore, the Board will proceed with the leave-to-construct application but we will reassess the matter in advance of the oral phase of the hearing, if the terms of reference are still not approved at that time."

So the terms of reference still aren't approved, so we're at the point you said that this would be reassessed.  I'm not sure I have a lot to add, in terms of what you might decide.  


Though I would point out that as long as the terms of reference -- Mr. Sperduti has suggested that we wait at least until the terms of reference -- If the terms of reference include the Bruce to Milton option, then I am not sure we're any further ahead, because looking at alternates is already on the issues list.  You would have to consider that.  The only way the terms of reference would really help us would be if the Bruce-to-Milton option wasn't even on the table.  If that was off the table, then obviously I think we would have to call the whole proceeding to a halt, and Hydro One would have to probably rethink what it wanted to do.  


But if Bruce to Milton is on the terms of reference, then it will be an option and that is already incorporated into the issues list.

So, Madam Chair, rather than having me ramble on endlessly on this issue, I am happy to take more specific questions, but those are my thoughts as best I can put together in five minutes.

MS. NOWINA:  I think you addressed the point I was interested in.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

MS. NOWINA:  Any further comments, Mr. Sperduti, immediately from Mr. Millar's comments?

MR. SPERDUTI:  No.

MS. NOWINA:  Those in support of Mr. Sperduti's proposal?
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MR. FALLIS:  Madam Chair, I support Mr. Sperduti's proposal on behalf of Powerline, but I would add that on June the 13th, 2006, the Minister of Energy directed the OPA to prepare its IPS energy plan for the next 20 years, and in the very last sentence of that document, Dwight Duncan, the Minister of Energy said:
"The plans should comply with Ontario Regulation 424, revised from time to time."  

Regulation 424 requires, effectively, EA approval in its regulation 2(8), which is ensure the project meets 
"...the criteria set out in subsection (2), the plan contains a sound rationale including, 
(i) an analysis of the impact on the environment of the electricity project, and 
(ii) an analysis of the impact on the environment of a reasonable range of alternatives to the electricity project." 


For the purposes of the section 8, the following are the criteria:  An environmental assessment of the electricity project under part 2 of the Environmental Assessment Act must be required.

As a consequence of that document, the OPA prepared the -- in November, which is filed with your Board, discussion paper 7, indicating the elements of a preliminary plan.  In that plan, in sections, basically, 2.3.6, it developed the concepts of the transmission 
from -- out of the Bruce area and in that discussed this line.

So the Minister of Energy has directed that it be discussed, that they enter into discussions about everything, but it must have EA approval.

This step, the letter that has been referred to by Mr. Klippenstein and Pollution Probe's motion, is a step outside of that to urge Hydro to consider, and should it decide to consider this, it has -- it would ask, as Mr. Klippenstein read, that if you choose to proceed with this project, you will have the support from OPA.

At no point in that document does it say that the EA should be bypassed.  It is a decision of Hydro, not of the OPA, to bypass the project.  They have in effect taken the step of stepping forward ahead of the EA process.

I would suggest that what has happened here is that the misstep that has been made has been made probably with the encouragement of the OPA, but certainly by HONI in its attempts to move this project on.  


The problem that you have forced -- you are put in -- it puts the Board in an awful position and puts everybody else in an awful position is because one would concede that the EA process is in place and there have been some approvals of the concept before leave is finally granted, and you are indicating you won't grant leave, final leave, until you see that project.

But you are putting in place a proposal that goes a long way without any EA information before you.  Normally in the process, you would have access to that information to intelligently make your decisions with that information in hand. 

The process's present risk is that you are going to make a decision as a result of hearings that are now set for January, when the EA process will maybe only still be at the terms-of-reference stage, and will not have the benefit of the decision of the EA process when you hear the evidence on the hearings in January.

I think, therefore, that it really prejudices everybody - ratepayers, landowners, not that the landowners are very high on the feeding pole.  The Board doesn't look at it through those filters, but the bottom line is that it certainly hurts all of the people along the way when that is in place.

So I would certainly urge that that question stay on the list, because it is at the crux of what the rights of the ratepayers are as far as costs, the rights of landowners as far as they're concerned.  There has to be justification, and should that justification be determined in advance of the EA report by this Board, I think it is very unfair for it to do that.  

I think the Board has to ask itself the question, and even on the hearing it has to have that question right at the foremost, in front of it, because if there is not enough EA information in January, the Board may have to exercise its discretion of deferral at that time.  

I would submit that it should stay.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.  Mr. Ross.
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MR. ROSS:  Some very brief submissions.  Obviously I adopt the position of Powerline Connections, Mr. Fallis, and almost completely Mr. Millar's submissions.

A question posed by you, Ms. Chaplin, I just wanted to address it, if I might.  That was:  Was not 1.2 subsumed in 2.1 of the agreed upon, the non-contested list?

I would suggest that although that is a very broad question, it concerns me that in answering it in a vacuum, in the absence of the EA report, that it would put the onus on the respondents to perceive and evaluate alternatives as opposed to upon the proponent, where the onus should naturally rest.

Barring any questions or clarification on that, I would move to the concept that all of the orders are conditional until the approvals required have been sought and granted.

Now, I would say that in 99.9 percent of the cases that that would be fine, that they seek the approval, approval is granted.  But in the instance of the EA approval, it creates a synergy with the evaluation of alternatives.  It is, in fact, a generator of alternatives.  Unlike the necessary building permits for the structures, this does not generate an alternative.  EA assessment and report generates alternatives and insists upon them, in certain instances.  

So I would say that there has to be a review of the alternatives to ensure that the project proposed is better, which is within the mandate, and that with the EA review, that those potential alternatives will be generated and we will then be able to see whether the project put forward by the proponent is in fact better.

I just move, now, to what Mr. Millar was saying, and in reading the order he suggests that the -- or the order states that the EA process should not be out of sync with the leave-to-construct process.  

And just from an informational point of view, at the interim-access application, we heard evidence from the panel for Hydro One that there would be - and correct me if I'm wrong; I don't have the transcript part directly in front of me - one and I believe two springs required for the environmental-assessment process.

I would suggest and submit that that would put the EA process and the leave-to-construct process well out of sync and that, as Mr. Millar had submitted, this is the time where we need to address what the consequences are of those two processes being out of sync.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Klippenstein.
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MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just a comment on the issue of alternatives.  I don't want to get into the issue of alternatives too much at this point, but just for your information, if I could draw your attention to the Pollution Probe document book, Exhibit KI.1.1, tab 2 under the heading 5.3.2, which is on page 9 of the document book.  

That heading 5.3.2 is entitled "Options and Cost Benefit Analyses."  Two-thirds of the way down the page, I have highlighted from the filing requirements of the Board the statement that:
"In the case of a non-discretionary project, the preferred option should establish that it is a better project than the alternatives."

So it appears that, at least with what are considered non-discretionary projects, there is a degree of comparison between the alternatives that does go on in the sense of establishing what the burden of the applicant is.

I should note that, for clarification, I understand that Hydro is stating that this is a non-discretionary project, which is something I get from the evidence at Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 5, appendix 1, page 3, where Hydro says: 
"This project is considered to be non-discretionary..."

So I just wanted to bring those to the attention of the Board.  I don't want to get into a debate about the alternatives and the fine points of that, but that may be relevant.  I will raise this again in a later issue.  Thank you.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.  Anyone else want to speak in support of this issue being added to the list?  Mr. Nettleton.  
Submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

I would like to start my submissions with respect to the text of the contested issue.  

The text, to be clear, asks at the outset whether or not approval should be granted now; i.e., now, like right now.  Obviously the answer to that question is "no".  We haven't gone through the evidentiary portion of this hearing.  

What this question is begging is one that is intended to be addressed in final argument.  

The reason why my friends are trying to have this issue brought to you now is so that they can make that argument, and they have the evidentiary record to support the view that environmental assessment is a basis for the rejection or the deferral of your request.

So what is embedded in this contested issue is the question of whether environmental assessment is a relevant topic to your jurisdiction, and the law is clear on that issue.  What the Board said in decision 2005-0478 at page -- the discussion is found at page 6, and it goes on until page 9, but ultimately, at the end of the day, after clearly articulating the Board's jurisdiction as it relates to section 92 and section 96(2), the Board made the following conclusion:
"Given that the Board has no jurisdiction to conduct an environmental review of the transmission line, and has no jurisdiction to review any part of the construction of the project, it follows that the Board is without the jurisdiction to conduct a combined review of the potential adverse environmental impacts of both the transmission line and the plant."

The Board, as Mr. Millar has said - and there are other decisions that follow that, Madam Chair, as you know - the clear view is that this Board does not have the jurisdiction, given the limited areas of enquiry spelled out in section 96(2).  

So if we are going to be dealing with what is within your jurisdiction and within your mandate, and we are facing a contested issue that clearly articulates matters that are specific to things that are outside your jurisdiction, i.e. environmental assessment, the issue is not relevant.

The issue, as it is stated for the purpose of an issues list for the evidentiary portion of this hearing, is not relevant.

Now, having said that, my friends, I am fully anticipating at the end of the day, will be making arguments that suggest affirmatively that leave to construct should not be granted.  I guess to say in the double negative, or excluding the double negative, that they will be opposing the granting of a leave to construct; that they will be making arguments that say you should exercise your discretion and not approve the project.

And they may very well be doing that on all sorts of reasons, but it doesn't justify the concept of including an issue in your issues list that is, on all fours, at the plain reading of the section, dealing with matters that are beyond your scope and your jurisdiction, namely the environmental-assessment matters.

Now, my friend Mr. Ross has indicated that in Motions Day there was express reference to the concept that things should not be out of sync, that there should be -- and the Board is concerned about the timing of these processes.

Hydro One accepts that concern, but today is not that process, Madam Chair.  If Mr. Ross or any other party is so concerned that we're out of step with that, there is a process to follow.  This is not that process; this is Issues Day.  There have been no submissions made.  There have been no filings made to suggest that parties were intending to make submissions today about what the Board said in Motions Day, about the processes being out of step.

MS. NOWINA:  Can I interrupt you there, Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  So what we did say was that before the oral portion of proceeding -- which I take to mean the hearing in January –-


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.  

MS. NOWINA:  -- that we need to stop and consider especially where the terms of reference are.  What process do you think should be used to make that consideration?  

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, I would think a motion.  I would think that any party can, if they believe that there is some valid, justifiable reason for a delay in this process, in your process to occur, then they have the obligation to meet the request that they would be seeking.  I would assume that that request would be a deferral of your consideration of this application.


What is contemplated in this issue is not a deferral of the evidentiary portion of the hearing, but rather a deferral of the decision being granted, the issuance of a decision.

Again, if my friends are going to make that argument, that is a matter for argument.  My friends may very well make that argument, that the Board ought not to release its decision in respect of this matter until other things have happened, whether it is the EA process or other things.

But the fact is that is argument and not a matter for evidence in this proceeding, particularly when it is relating to environmental-assessment matters.  

My friend Mr. Sperduti made the point in his submissions that he is concerned with the process that will be used for the environmental assessment of this project.  

He referred to it as being a political process.  The suggestion is, as I understood it, that he prefers the Board's process, this process, a public-hearing process, as being the form in which environmental assessment is to be considered.

In my respectful submission, Madam Chair, that is a hollow argument.  That is an argument that has no basis for supporting an issue that is clearly beyond your scope and jurisdiction.

If Mr. Sperduti is concerned about the environmental-assessment process, you are not the arbiter of that decision.  That is for a different decision-maker to consider, and Mr. Sperduti is intelligent enough and his clients are intelligent enough to know that.

There is nothing precluding Mr. Sperduti from suggesting as much, with the party that is looking after the environmental-assessment process.  

Mr. Sperduti also indicated that there was a lack of consideration of alternatives, and that this should somehow justify this contested issue.

Well, Madam Chair and Madam Chaplin, the point of that issue is faulty for two reasons.  One is we have issue 2.1.  It does say, "Have all reasonable alternatives to the project been identified and considered?"

The application includes evidence which Hydro One is intending to rely on.  It discusses alternatives.  We are not opposed to having that issue considered and debated in the evidentiary process of this proceeding.

So I don't see how Mr. Sperduti's assertions that there has been a failure to identify and a failure to consider alternatives, as being a basis for justifying contested issue 1.2, particularly under the guise of project need and justification.

If his issue is about alternatives, it's covered.  The application addresses matters respecting alternatives.  

Mr. Fallis made submissions with respect to the IPSP and suggesting that contested issue 2 should be included because, in his view, the project is somehow related to the IPSP.


Well, that's not the case.  The facts are that project was filed before the IPSP was filed and the project has not been considered to be as part of the IPSP.  In fact, it was assumed to be included in that document.  That is to say, it has been assumed to be already occurring and that the IPSP speaks further from that point forward.


The suggestion that Mr. Fallis is making is that the application, as it is now filed, should in some way be deferred or delayed until the consideration of the IPSP.


Again, if that is Mr. Fallis' position, there is a process for him to follow in order for that to happen; but that is a motion.  That is the subject matter of a motion.  That is not the subject matter of reasons for including an issue like issue 1.2.


Madam Chair, the issue is one that you have considered in the past.  This is somewhat akin to Groundhog Day, the movie.  We have been there, we have done that.  We have heard this issue before.  This is a sly attempt to have environmental-assessment matters that are clearly outside your jurisdiction be included or be able to have parties include, and we submit that that is not appropriate and that the issue should be rejected.


Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Anyone else opposed to the issue?  Mr. Stephenson.

Submissions by Mr. Stephenson


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  We support Hydro One's positions largely for the reasons given by Mr. Nettleton.


If I might just briefly, in our view, this proposed issue is frankly much ado about nothing.


At the end of the day, this is an argument that, at the conclusion of the hearing, will be open to Mr. Sperduti's client to make, and nothing can prevent that from happening.  His client is entitled to make that argument.  It doesn't need to be on the issues list in order for him to make that argument.  


It is an argument that is available to be made.  It is always an argument that is available to be made, that there is some discretionary reason why the Board ought not grant the relief requested.  It is not a matter of evidence at all, and I think Mr. Nettleton made that point.


To be fair to Mr. Sperduti, he didn't say that he was attempting to re-argue the adjournment or stay argument today or at any particular time in the future, other than at the end of the case, and that is fair enough.  He is entitled to make that argument, and he has put Hydro One on notice that he may make that argument, and I think we're all thankful for that.  I mean, that is helpful.


But it doesn't need to be on the issues list, because it is, at the end of the day, just a legal argument.


Now, let me just say this.  You have raised the issue - it has been mentioned - this business about the environmental assessment being too far out of sync, and it may well be, as Mr. Nettleton indicates, the appropriate subject matter for somebody to bring a motion in January if there are not terms of reference, and at that point in time you can consider the issue and proceed.


That is all perfectly fair and that is entirely the appropriate process to follow, if that is the circumstances then.  But that is not -- we're not there yet, and let's get there before we see what happens.


Just in terms of dealing with some of the submissions by Mr. Millar.  I appreciate that he was put on the spot in some respect, but just to be clear about this, we aren't really talking about a costs-thrown-away situation here in terms of this consideration, because, as Mr. Sperduti indicates, this is an argument that he proposes to be making at the end of the case.


And at that point in time, whatever costs were going to be incurred will have been incurred.  The only thing that remains to occur at that point in time when you are considering that decision is whether or not you proceed to consider the evidence and make a decision on the case on the merits.  The costs, all of them, will already have been incurred.


So that, at most, is a consideration you would have to make at the end of the day when you are deciding this issue.  But just to preface it, the issue about costs being thrown away really doesn't come up in any circumstance here, because we're not talking about arguing this issue now.  We're talking about arguing it a year from now or ten months from now.  And at that point, the costs will already have been incurred.


So just in summary, we think this is not an issue for the issues list.  It is just an argument that is always available, and nobody is going to deny them the opportunity to make the argument if, as and when it is the appropriate time to do it.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Others opposed?  Mr. Sperduti.  

Further submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Just very briefly, Madam Chair.


HONI's preparedness to court the risk that I discussed earlier doesn't seem to have diminished, despite my submissions.  Not surprising, actually; but the point is I didn't hear my friend say anything about that issue.


I have heard my friend Mr. Stephenson speak about it and I will address that, but from HONI's perspective, anything using the word "environmental" is beyond the Board's jurisdiction.


So he has not only misunderstood my submissions, he hasn't responded to them.


So I am not surprised that my friends attempt to characterize this as purely an environmental issue or an attempt by Powerline Connections to argue the EA in this forum.  My submission was very clear:  The Board is being asked to consider this application for leave to construct, and its mandate requires it to look at alternatives.


My submission is that in the absence of the EA study, the Board is being asked to make a decision about those alternatives in a vacuum, not to mention the fact that if the EA approval is not available at the time that HONI comes to make this case, the question becomes, Well, ought the Board to make a conditional order?


We're not here to argue the merits of this issue or the substantive aspects of it.  We are here to determine whether or not it is a relevant consideration and should the Board hear evidence about these issues.


Our submission is that it is clearly a relevant issue, and despite my friend's attempt to characterize it as sneaking environmental concerns in through the back door, that is not what it is.  It is an effort to make sure that the Board has a fulsome understanding of what the proposal is and what other proposals or what other alternatives are available.


So those are my submissions in response, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sperduti, a question.  As I think a couple of parties have pointed out, if it is an issue on the issues list, then it is an issue for purposes of evidence, and you just mentioned hearing evidence on this issue.


What type of evidence do you think would fall under this issue?


MR. SPERDUTI:  Well, Madam Chair, it is difficult to project now how things will happen between today and January when we come to hear this case.


But assume, if you will, that the terms of reference are completed, and assume, if you will, that a series of alternatives have been proposed within the environmental-assessment context that may bear or may have some bearing on this Board's process. 


I wouldn't expect to hear my friend propose -- or I don't know what my friend will do, but my friend may not propose to have the Board consider some of the alternatives that are being identified in a broader context.


So one thing that you might hear evidence about are alternatives that are being generated through that EA process and how those alternatives fit within the leave-to-construct application.  That's one possible avenue of approaching this question, from the Board's perspective, in this process, not from the Ministry of the Environment's perspective in its process.


So that is one possible way.  We may choose to call experts on the question of the appropriateness of the granting of a conditional approval in this circumstance.  And we hope, between now and then, we will be able to develop evidence about that issue.


But from our perspective, it allows the landowners the opportunity to bring to the Board's attention some evidence that the proponent may not.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  That's helpful.


All right.  We will take our morning break now.  We will break until 11:30.  We will likely have lunch then at about 1 o'clock.

--- Recess taken at 11:11 a.m. 
--- On resuming at 11:33 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

Any matters arise during the break?  No.  We will move on to issue 1.3 of the – sorry, not on the air.  
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 1.3


We will move on to issue 1.3 of the contested issues list.  I will read it:

"Have all appropriate project risk factors pertaining to the need and justification, including but not limited to the costs and rate impacts of EMFs, forecasting, technical and financial risk, been taken into consideration in planning this project?"

Once again, Mr. Sperduti, you are the proponent of this issue.  
Submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and I again anticipate my friend will say that any reference to EMFs, or electromagnetic fields, is an environmental issue and it is beyond the purview or jurisdiction of this Board.

So the real question is: Do EMFs have an impact on pricing, reliability and quality of electrical service?  And my submission to you is that, yes, they do.  

The first thing that I wanted to bring to your attention is an article, a scholarly article that was prepared by a Lisa Bogardus -- B-O-G-A-R-D-U-S -- and it is entitled: "Recovery and Allocation of Electromagnetic Field Mitigation Costs in Electric Utility Rates".  I have with me copies of that article, Madam Chair, that I am going to hand up to you, with your permission.  

MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone have any objections to submitting this as an exhibit?  

MR. NETTLETON:  I do, Madam Chair.  

MS. NOWINA:  Let's hear them, Mr. Nettleton.  

MR. NETTLETON:  The purpose of this proceeding, as we understood it, was not one to debate evidence as it relates to a particular topic.

Mr. Sperduti has not put us on notice that this was going to be a proceeding where expert evidence from persons not present would be relied upon in support of the inclusion of the wording of the -- one, two, three, six words, as I see it, as part of this proceeding.  

In my respectful submission, Mr. Sperduti should not be permitted to have and rely upon expert evidence reports that have not been received, and provided the benefit of parties, prior to the proceeding.  

MS. NOWINA:  Other comments?  Mr. Millar.  
Submissions by Mr. Millar


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I think, just very generally, the Board's general practice with this regard -- we usually allow exhibits in and then these types of things go to weight, is the typical practice.  I don't believe Mr. Sperduti is intending on calling the author of the article.  I would certainly be surprised.  So the weight you give it, I guess is up to you.  

If Mr. Nettleton requires time to review it, normally a document is circulated a day in advance, or we try and make it a day in advance, if it is a new article or a new piece of evidence, something that is not already on the record.  So if Mr. Nettleton requires time to read the article, or other parties, then perhaps we could defer this issue until later.  I would leave it to Mr. Nettleton to request that relief, but we can take that into account.  

So, to sum up, normally we would allow this type of thing to go in and it would go to weight.  If Mr. Nettleton needs time, then I would suggest the Board should grant that.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sperduti, the intention of this part of the proceeding is not to hear and weigh evidence, and obviously with these kinds of articles on EMF, we all know there is a lot out of there; we could get into a number of days in reviewing articles.

So perhaps you could give us a bitter idea of what you plan to do with this.  

MR. SPERDUTI:  Well, Madam Chair, there has been a lot of writing about the health impacts of EMF, alleged health impacts of EMFs.  

It is not my intention to debate whether or not EMFs have an adverse health impact on people who may be affected by them.  

The intention of introducing this article and showing it to the Board is simply to demonstrate that whether or not EMFs have a documented or proven connection to health concerns, they are affecting and will affect ratepayers.

This article doesn't speak about the treatment of rates assuming a link between EMFs and health factors.  The article looks at how rates have been affected already by EMFs, and the article looks at how they may be affected in the future if EMFs are linked to health concerns and if they're not linked to health concerns.

So this isn't an article about the health risks of EMFs.  This is an article about the rate impacts of EMFs.  

Hydro One wants to bury its head in the sand and pretend that EMFs don't affect rates, and they want the Board to hold their hand while they do it.  This article demonstrates EMFs affect rates, and there is certainly a risk factor with a project like this.

So to suggest that this isn't relevant, or this is expert evidence is, in my respectful submission, an attempt by Hydro One not to let the landowners even out of the gate.  And with all due respect, the article deals with rates.  It doesn't deal with the health issues.  It is not a medical article.  It is a rate article.


I think it is important for the Board to understand in a broader sense what rate impacts EMFs are having and may have in the future, in demonstrating the relevance of the inclusion of these words; not to say that there is a link, or not to have the Board make a determination right now, but just to say:  This is relevant to a risk factor.  

MS. NOWINA:  Give us a moment, Mr. Sperduti.

[Board Panel confers with clients]

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, I am inclined to allow it, but I would suggest that we can wait until tomorrow to hear this issue, to give you an opportunity to read the document and prepare any submissions you would like to make on it.  

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will take that opportunity, and have that opportunity to review it and make my submissions accordingly.


To be clear, this issue may go away, if I might be allowed to put some context to the reasons for opposing, that Hydro One has to oppose this -- the wording as Mr. -- 

MS. NOWINA:  I don't want to have to hear the issue twice.  We are going to have a couple of busy days.  If the issue may go away, you might have some off-line discussions with the other parties between now and tomorrow.

MR. NETTLETON:  We have tried.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So we will skip this issue today.  If you can distribute that document to others, Mr. Sperduti, and to the Board.  

MR. MILLAR:  Would you like it marked now, Madam Chair?

MS. NOWINA:  We will mark it as an exhibit today but we won't refer to it until tomorrow.

MR. MILLAR:  We are at KI.1.2. 
EXHIBIT NO. KI.1.2:  Document by Lisa Bogardus entitled "Recovery and Allocation of Electromagnetic Field Mitigation Costs in Electric Utility Rates" 


MR. ROSS:  Madam Chair, I apologize, on the same vein I will have a very brief article that discusses -- it actually doesn't address the issue of whether there is any causation between EMF and health problems, but deals squarely with the concept that the fear of health impacts has been successfully litigated, and that those litigation costs will affect ratepayers.  It is a six-page article.  I will only be able to print it at lunch, if that is okay, and then I will provide a copy to everyone else. 

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's do that.  We will mark it as an exhibit when we get it.  

MR. ROSS:  Thank you.

[Mr. Sperduti distributes document]


MS. NOWINA:  I am sure everyone who wants one will be eager to print one up at break.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I can leave these somewhere.  I have a few more copies.

MS. NOWINA:  Why don't you leave them in a corner somewhere?  We will make sure they're available.  Thank you.
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 2.1


All right.  That takes us to issue 2.1 of the contested issues list, which reads:  

"Have landowner-proposed refinements or alternatives to proposed route and corridor been adequately addressed?"


Again, Mr. Sperduti, this is you.

Submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I don't want to repeat my earlier submissions about alternatives.  Clearly, the Board's mandate is to consider alternatives and choose the best option.


The EA process not having been done, obviously the landowners would like the opportunity and want it recognized in this Board's order to present alternatives to Hydro One and have their response to it, and if we think that there is an alternative that better suits the objective, then we want the opportunity to have that as a consideration.


So without -- not to belabour the point, it just goes to the question of:  Where are the alternatives in this process going to come from?  I think that it is fair to recognize that the landowners may have some proposals that this Board and Hydro One will consider.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sperduti, a similar question that Ms. Chaplin asked you earlier:  Why isn't this issue subsumed in issue 2.1 of the agreed-to issues list?


MR. SPERDUTI:  Again, if my friend acknowledges that this issue is subsumed in 2.1, for the record, then I won't insist on it being a separate issue.  But if my friend disagrees and says it is not subsumed or says there is some difference between the reasonable alternatives, undefined reasonable alternatives in 2.1, and the landowner refinements or alternatives, then I am happy to -- well, then I will have to insist that it remain; at least make the submission that it ought to remain.


So I am interested to hear from my friend about whether he agrees that it is subsumed.


I think just anticipating my friend's response, I think he may have some difficulty with routes and corridors.  I am not sure if that was basis for his objection to the issue in the first place, but I have made my submissions already to you, Madam Chair, about routes and corridors, and our submission is that there is nothing that prevents the Board from considering refinements in the proposed route that will have pricing reliability and quality impacts.


So with that, I will end my submissions and wait to hear from my friend.


MS. NOWINA:  I have another question, Mr. Sperduti.  So did you envision that the landowners would put forward witnesses on alternatives to Hydro One's plan?


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  Others in support of this issue?

Submissions by Mr. Fallis


MR. FALLIS:  I adopt wholeheartedly Mr. Sperduti's --


MS. NOWINA:  Your mike is not on, Mr. Fallis.


MR. FALLIS:  I apologize.


I adopt what Mr. Sperduti has indicated wholeheartedly, on behalf of Powerline.  Again, because of a previous decision of the Board and its answers on the 4th of June to alternative routing issues, I think it is clear that this question stay in the form it is there regardless, whether it is subsumed or not.  I think it should be -- if it is to be subsumed, it should be added to paragraph 2.2, because it isn't only the alternatives that HONI has looked at, but it is the alternatives that the landowners propose.  And I think that is equally important as an alternative consideration.  


I support that it be added -- stay as a question or, in the alternative, be added as a specific part of 2.1, if it is subsumed.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross.

Submissions by Mr. Ross


MR. ROSS:  My concern is that as a part of the EA process, specifically with the drafting of the terms of reference, consultations are to take place.


There have been submissions made with regards to the existing terms of reference that those consultations have not taken place and that there is an adequate plan for those consultations.


Given that this may proceed without the benefit of the information that would be provided in the EA as relates to the ratepayers and the adequacy and quality of electricity, I think that this question is an important one and echo Mr. Sperduti's concerns that but for specific language, we will be back before you in motions.  


And that, I think, is a concern that is addressed in almost every one of these contested issues, that we want to avoid the necessity of seeking further guidance from the Board when a little specificity that does not preclude the general questions will avoid the necessity of coming back before you on motions for directions to have interrogatories answered.


Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  Mr. Klippenstein, do you have an opinion on this one?  No.


Anyone else supporting this?  All right.  Mr. Nettleton.

Submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


The issue that we have is as you have indicated to Mr. Sperduti in your question in 2.1, and that is why issue 2.1 isn't sufficient to address the opportunity for parties to file evidence related to their views of proper alternatives or their views of route-specific issues.


The reality is the language of 2.1 isn't specific to Hydro One.  The language of 2.1 asks the question in a more generic sense, and quite so; quite properly so.


It is intended to allow all parties the opportunity to express their views and provide evidence as it concerns the issue, the issue of reasonable alternatives.


I would find it amazing if, as Mr. Ross has indicated, that there would be a need for a motions day proceeding or process to have evidence of Mr. Ross's client submitted relating to reasonable alternatives.


If Mr. Ross's client believes there is a reasonable alternative to the project, I would think that section 2.1 of the issues list provides him and his clients with the assurance that that is a matter that is relevant to this proceeding and is going to be considered.


What the contested issue does and says is refers specifically to routes and corridors.  And implied in that contested issue is the suggestion that:  Has Hydro One considered detailed routing and alternatives?


Hydro One's case is as applied for.  Hydro One has indicated that detailed routing issues are going to be an ongoing consideration, are matters that will take into account the outcome of the EA process, and it may very well require, on a specific basis, applications before this Board to consider whatever outcome those specific issues arise.


But we don't believe that there would be any value in having this specific issue dealt with, because this specific issue refers to proposed routes, which we take into account to mean detailed routing, which is going to be predicated upon the outcome of the EA process.


Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Nettleton, so a consideration of a route that would be outside the proposed corridor, you're saying that that would be within your proposed scope?


MR. NETTLETON:  The consideration of alternatives, of reasonable alternatives, is one that our evidence does speak to and alternatives that were considered in the selection of the Bruce-to-Milton corridor.


The reasons for the rejection of all other, you know, alternative corridors is spelled out.


So if parties want to take issue with that selection process or ask questions about the reasonableness of the exclusion or the selection, or if parties want to provide their own evidence about why a different corridor is more appropriate for the project, we would expect that the issue, as stated in 2.1, to be broad enough to subsume those types of matters.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  

MS. NOWINA:  Others opposed to this issue?  Mr. Sperduti, do you have a response?
Further submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Part of me wants to say that, if Mr. Nettleton thinks that the issue is subsumed, then what is the harm in leaving it as a separate issue?  If it is redundant from his perspective, there is no harm done.  But from the landowner perspective, it is critical that the Board understand that we intend to lead evidence about routes, detailed routing, as they relate to pricing, quality and reliability.  And we intend to lead evidence about corridors.

If my friend objects to the introduction of alternative routes that bear some relationship to the Board's mandate, then we have to insist that the issue be listed separately.  But if my friend concedes that it is part of 2.1 that the landowners will be entitled to lead evidence before the Board about refinements to the route and alternative corridors or other options to the project, without limitation, provided that the evidence is relevant to the issue before the Board, then maybe we don't need to have it as a separate issue.

I am just worried about prejudging that now.  Again, I put it to my friend that if there is -- if it is redundant, from his perspective, then there is no harm in leaving it, as a further comfort to the landowners, to understand what their rights and entitlements will be at the hearing.

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, may I just -- 

MS. NOWINA:  I think you have to, Mr. Nettleton, I don't think we can leave it hanging like that.
Further submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  My friend is not -- I think is part-way there, but not clearly understanding, and I want to be clear on the position of Hydro One.

There is an obvious and, I think, important issue that we need -- the parties to your proceeding need some direction on, and that is the consideration of detailed routing in this proceeding.

If detailed routing is going to be an issue that is going to be heard and considered in the context of this section 92 application, then what my friend is suggesting is entirely understandable and clearly relevant; which is alternatives to detailed routing.

Hydro One takes the position that that is not the matter that is before this Board, that is to say a specific and detailed route.  What Hydro One has provided is a reference route in its application.  It has indicated which side of the existing corridor that the proposed line is going to be situated upon.

Hydro One is also expecting that the outcome of the EA process may influence the ultimate determination of the detailed and specific route.  And that detailed and specific route, if it is changed - if there's some requirement that is going to modify the approval that Hydro One is seeking from this Board - then Hydro One will be obligated to come back to this Board and deal with those specific issues.

But we do not see the evidentiary record in this proceeding being one so as to require the consideration of detailed routing matters.  We are prepared, and we believe it is appropriate for us, to consider alternatives that we have examined and those alternatives relate to a corridor level of enquiry; and we are prepared to have those matters debated as it relates to the issue of need, and project need.

Those are my submissions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Sperduti?  
Further submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, just to give you an example of how -- of why we proposed this as a separate issue to avoid confusion later.  

There is a proposed routing through the town of Hanover.  Everybody calls it the "Hanover Jog".  

Our group may take the position at the hearing of the leave to construct, that that part of the project ought to be reconsidered, or that leave ought not to be granted in the form proposed, because of that jog.  And I don't want to get into a debate with my friend at Hydro One about whether that's routing or corridor, or something else.  

These are critical issues from the landowners' perspective.  We expect that we will make them relevant to the Board's consideration of pricing and quality of service and reliability.  And in that context, I don't see any limitation to the Board looking at alternative routes that may accomplish the objective at a lesser cost or with -- in a more reliable or effective manner.  

So to be clear, that is an example of how this distinction my friend has drawn between routes and corridors may break down, if we don't keep this as a separate, defined issue; and it is on that basis that we have asked that the issue be listed separately.

Based on what I am hearing, it doesn't look like my friend is prepared to concede that this issue, as it is drafted, is subsumed in section 2.1.  I think that there is a refinement in the proposed issue that my friend takes issue with, or at least wonders whether or not the Board ought to be considering at all.  

To the extent that we can't agree, we will have to submit it to you for determination.  And I think that I have stated, as best I can, the basis for the request.  I would be happy to answer whatever questions you may have in that regard.

MS. NOWINA:  I don't want to get into a tennis match here, but just for clarity, I'll lob the last ball to you, Mr. Nettleton.  Does Hydro One consider the Hanover Jog to be one such detailed routing proposal that it doesn't think is appropriate in this case?
Further Submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Our understanding of the Hanover Jog is that the current corridor is effectively an elbow.  In other words, it "V"s down.  The question is whether that "V" should be maintained, or whether there should be a new route that avoids the "V" altogether.

The avoidance of the "V" altogether requires a new corridor.  It is a greenfield type of arrangement.  

And this choice that Hydro One has applied for, namely to follow the existing corridor, is clearly one that we will be having to defend and expect parties to ask questions about.  The suggestion that a new corridor should be used is one that we would see as falling within the ambit of 2.1.  That is to say, we are dealing with a new corridor.  

But the level of detail that we see being articulated, and the expectation being when you get down to a detailed route investigation, is whether the line should be located within meets and bounds of one side of the right-of-way, or how far in that one side of the right-of-way it should be, or what investigations have you carried out, or what environmental assessment have you examined as it relates to the specific and detailed routing.

Those are all matters that we would see not falling within your purview of this proceeding.  Your mandate, we submit, relates to the overall public interest of the applied-for project and whether the project meets the need.

Those detailed routing issues are best saved and considered through the EA process.  

MS. NOWINA:  But the "Hanover Jog", in your opinion, is a corridor issue, not a detailed routing issue? 

MR. NETTLETON:  Correct.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 
Further submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, there are instances -- and I can't list them all for the Board today -- there are instances where we intend to lead evidence about whether the proposed route should be on one side or the other of the corridor.  Again, relating to the issues before the Board.

So I use the "Hanover Jog" as an example, but it is not just that.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Sperduti.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  At the risk of belabouring this, just the last thing you said, Mr. Sperduti, just raised a question in my mind.

It is my recollection - I have the binders here - that Hydro One has proposed to run on a specific side of the existing corridor.  So we will call that the new proposed corridor.  I think that is the terminology we used in the access to land.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I think at one point they switch sides. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  They do.  But my question to you is:  My understanding of what Mr. Nettleton has said is that the corridor that they have proposed - and the alignment is as in the evidence - variations of the routing within that corridor, he is suggesting, are out of scope; but that any changes to that corridor, in other words, switching over at a different point or running it, would be within scope.

Didn't you just say the same thing?  If you're proposing you might lead evidence that the corridor should be on the other side, that would seem to be a new corridor.  I don't think there is any dispute there.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I'm not sure that there isn't a dispute there.  I think that Mr. Nettleton would consider that a detailed routing issue.  Whether you switch sides of the existing line, but within the corridor, I think Mr. Nettleton would say that is a routing issue, not a corridor issue.

I think I understand his submission about the Hanover Jog.  If you don't follow the existing line at all, if you make it straight and avoid --

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Sperduti, not the existing corridor; the proposed corridor, which is marked in green, I believe, on the maps, which is outside the existing corridor, runs adjacent to it.

So my understanding is if you were to propose anything that would be outside of the proposed corridor, albeit on the other side of the existing corridor, he's agreeing that is in scope.  You are questioning that?

MR. SPERDUTI:  If that is -- if we're in agreement about that, then that will assist me, for sure.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, great.  Thanks.

MS. NOWINA:  I guess that means we're back to Mr. Nettleton.

MS. CHAPLIN:  No, Mr. Nettleton I think has been --

MR. FALLIS:  If I could just ask a question, this specific question:  Is routing strictly within the -- within the 175 or 200 feet?  Is that a routing issue as to where it goes in width and the corridor would be something -- anything out -- if there is a proposal to take it beyond the green line, as you say, that is a corridor issue; is that the understanding of the Board?

MS. CHAPLIN:  That is my understanding of Mr. Nettleton's position, that if it is within the green proposed corridor, that is a detailed routing issue.  He is suggesting that is out of scope, but that if it is an alternative that lies outside the green proposed corridor, then it is a corridor issue and would be in scope as he perceives it.

MS. NOWINA:  I would just like to get a confirmation from Mr. Nettleton that is indeed what he is proposing.

MR. NETTLETON:  I am madly scrambling with my client to make sure that that is the case.  I want to be clear on this point, because I think it is important.

The corridor that Hydro One has included in its application is the one that it has applied for.  It has carried out all of the notification requirements as it relates to the applied-for corridor.

Ms. Chaplin, the way you explained it, as I understand it, there is some overlap, but the new corridor, the extension of the existing corridor, á la the new corridor, is as we have applied for.

The consideration of alternatives, alternative corridors, in our view, has been predicated first and foremost upon need, whether or not the project need can be satisfied.

And that is what the application speaks to, in terms of the consideration of alternatives.  That is how new corridors, new greenfield corridors or other existing alternatives, corridors, have been considered.

The question of whether a new corridor alternative on some other part of the existing corridor, i.e., the other side of the corridor, is not something that Hydro One has proposed.  It's not something that Hydro One has, therefore, taken steps to notify, because it is not within our proposal, our application.

If other parties are saying that it provides for a better alternative, i.e., the routing of that, of the project along a different part of a new corridor, that is for their evidence and that is for their -- that's for them to substantiate before the Board.

But I want to be clear that it is not Hydro One's position and Hydro One is not the one that needs to be obligated to consider corridors, other alternative corridors, that are not spelled out in its application, and, in particular, as it relates to notice. 

May I just have one more moment, too?

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Nettleton.

[Counsel confers]


MR. NETTLETON:  Just after conferring with my client, I think there is a point that may be confused that I want to clarify.

If there is a proposal to move from one side from what we are proposing, to another side of the existing corridor, we would see that as a detailed routing issue.  That is to say that it would be a matter that would be within the existing corridor, and the need for a detailed routing change over to the other side would be a matter that would be considered to be a detailed routing or route change.

We would have to understand the basis for that change or the need for that change, and we would do so through the consideration of detailed routing issues.  And that requires the consideration of matters that are being considered in the EA process.

For example, if there are sensitive water courses that are driving the need for a route change from one side of the existing corridor to the other, if there is some sensitive wildlife that is located, all of that would have to come out of the EA process and be used and understood as driving the need for a change over to the other side of the corridor.

It is not as if changing from one side of the corridor to the next is a minor or inconsequential change.  It is a significant change to a transmission-line development.

And so the information and the justification for that type of change would have to take into account the EA information.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But I guess in that case, Mr. Nettleton, if that were to be the result of the EA, then what you said previously would be what would come to bear, which is you would have to come back to us, because that would not be the route -- if we were grant you leave to construct, that would not be the route that we would have granted the leave to construct.

MR. NETTLETON:  Correct, correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  If a party wanted to bring evidence to suggest that for non-environmental reasons, for reliability reasons, price reasons, or quality reasons, that the other side of the existing corridor, why would that -- why in your view would that be irrelevant?

MR. NETTLETON:  I think the confusion is, firstly, we wouldn't consider them to be irrelevant, but I think the overlap here relates to socio-economic considerations, and the socio-economic considerations are ones that are going to be touched upon and considered in the EA process.

So where do we draw the line?  And this is why I say that there needs to be some definition provided as to where that line gets drawn for this proceeding.  Where do we consider detailed routing and where do we leave detailed routing considerations for the EA process?

MS. NOWINA:  Or is the line, Mr. Nettleton, exactly there, what's in the EA process, and here it has to do with price, reliability and quality of service?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  So the same corridor change could be discussed in both proceedings, but with different rationale, I would think.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think that is fair.

MS. NOWINA:  So the argument that you might bring would be one around price, reliability and quality of service, as opposed to the detail of the change.  I mean, the detail of the change I think is a valid point, but in this case, I mean, a clear delineation of detail of change would be within the applied-for corridor, outside the applied-for corridor.  That would be a simple line to draw.

I'm not sure that you're comfortable that that is the kind of simple line you want us to draw.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think the line that we want drawn is one that considers the need for the project and the rationale for the selection of the corridor and the reference route within the corridor that we have applied for.

Hydro One fully expects that matter to be examined.  Hydro One fully expects parties to challenge and to provide evidence about whether the price and the quality of the electricity service that is offered in the proposal that Hydro One has submitted to this Board is the best choice.  And if parties are seeking other alternatives, or proposing other alternatives that deal with price and quality matters, we're certainly not opposed to having that type of evidence led.

But where we get down into the details, the detailed routing of -- and issues related to socio-economic impacts and environmental impacts, we see those matters best addressed through the EA process.

MS. NOWINA:  That's helpful.  Thank you.

Mr. Sperduti, do you need to add anything to that?

MR. SPERDUTI:  I think it has all been captured.  The distinction between routes and corridors is not something I had heard prior to the Issues Conference last week.  It is Hydro One's distinction, and we don't accept it as a distinction.  But since they're drawing a line between routes and corridors, we figure we better include them both in the Board's consideration of the issues so that we're not precluded later, or we don't hear Mr. Nettleton arguing:  Well, that is a route issue, not a corridor issue.

So I think the Board understands our submissions with respect to that, and I will end it there.  

Thank you. 

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 2.2


MS. NOWINA:  The next contested issue, issue 2.2, does that fall under the same category as the earlier one, which is to discuss EMFs, and do you want to leave that until tomorrow, as well?

MR. SPERDUTI:  I think we will probably leave it until tomorrow, unless my friend wants to hash it out today, which is fine with me.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. NETTLETON:  If my friend is going to rely on that document for this, then, yes, let's leave it.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  I am assuming it is an EMF discussion, so why don't we leave all of that discussion until tomorrow.

PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 2.3


Issue 2.3, then, of the contested issues list, are the project's estimated rate impacts and costs reasonable for the transmission line, the stations' modifications, and the estimated operating, maintenance and administration requirements.

I understand the only contentious part is the word "estimated"; is that correct?  And the proposal is Hydro One's.
Submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

During the conference last week, there was some concern about this discussion of what rate impact are we speaking of.  Is it the actual rate impact or is it something else?

We wanted to be clear that the rate impact that we are speaking of in this proceeding is obviously an estimated one, because the project has not yet been constructed.  The actual rate impact, and any actual rate impact, and the prudency of any actual rate impact is ultimately going to be a matter for a rates case, at the end of the day.

We aren't wedded to the idea that the word "estimated" is required, but we wanted to make sure that all parties understood that our understanding of the issues was rate impacts, as it relates to this proceeding, have to be estimated.

So there seemed to be some debate about that.  We thought, out of an abundance of caution and clarity, that the word "estimated" might be helpful, but if that understanding is accepted by all parties without the word "estimated" being there, that is fine too.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

Mr. Millar, you had submissions on this one?  
Submissions by Mr. Millar


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, very briefly, Madam Chair.  We tend to agree with Hydro One on this.  It is not necessarily that we have a problem with the way it is worded, but it should be understood, in Board Staff's submission, this is not a rates case, and we will not be setting rates here, or transmission or distribution rates, in this case.

To the extent that Mr. Klippenstein wants to explore the estimated costs of the line, I think that is well within the scope of the proceeding, and I doubt there is any objection from anyone to that.

But we just want it clear that this is not the proceeding in which rates will be set.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein.
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MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I think I am hearing a clarification that may be good, but I do want to just be clear about this, because it is a matter of concern.

This revised proposal, which varies from the wording in Procedural Order No. 3, appendix C by inserting the word "estimated", could be interpreted as shifting the emphasis of the issue from:  "Are these costs reasonable?" to:  "Are the estimates reasonable?"  In other words, the new interpretation could be:  "Are the rate impacts and costs, as estimated, reasonable estimates?"  And that, in my view, would shift the importance of the question from a 9.0 on the Richter scale, to a 2.0.

What we understood the import of this question to be - and I think I am hearing that that is a legitimate issue - is that:  "Are the rate impacts and costs reasonable in terms of their benefit to the consumer?"

MS. CHAPLIN:  Just to make sure I understand what you're saying, I think you're suggesting, or your concern was, that the issue might have become whether or not the estimate was reasonable, as opposed to whether or not the impact was reasonable.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  As long as it is clear that the issue is whether or not the impact is reasonable, then there is not -- you're not as -- that's what you want to make sure that it says?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That's correct.  Not to be endlessly repetitive, but Pollution Probe is concerned that this amount of money being spent for a line that supposedly, allegedly, isn't going to transmit any additional electricity and additional security, you know, is only that that comes from the same corridor; Pollution Probe may say: "It ain't worth it.  Period."  And that is the understanding that we have.

So if that is, if that continues to be a legitimate exploration under this wording, then we don't have a concern.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

Anyone else have a comment?  Mr. Adams?  
Submissions by Mr. Adams


MR. ADAMS:  We're satisfied with the explanation and clarification that Hydro One provided.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Nettleton, I assume I don't have to go back to you?
Further submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  There is just one point of clarification.  We may want to address our minds to the third bullet point, where the term "estimated" is found; and I think that is part of the confusion, is that in one bullet point, the term "estimated" is expressly referenced, and in the other two bullet points it is not.

So just as a matter of drafting, again, it struck us that if -- it may be better if by including the word "estimated" up front, and deleting the word "estimated" in the third bullet point, or simply taking out both references and understanding amongst all parties that what we're dealing with here are estimates.

MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Hard to imagine they could be anything else at this point, Mr. Nettleton.

MR. NETTLETON:  Right.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  All right.  Let's move on to contested issue number 4.  Or is that -- 2.4.
Submissions by Mr. Fallis


MR. FALLIS:  Just for the record, we weren't invited to comment, but we are one of the opposition described as landowners and I wish to adopt the submissions of Mr. Klippenstein, on behalf of Pollution Probe, for my group.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. I'm sorry, Mr. Fallis.  Anyone else want to make a submission?  

All right.  
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 2.4


MS. NOWINA:  Issue 2.4:  
"As it relates to the cost benefit analysis, has appropriate consideration been given to both compensable and potentially non-compensable impacts, and how these can be addressed or mitigated with alternative forms of land agreements or changes to the preferred corridor or route?"


Mr. Sperduti, you are the proponent of that.
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MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, at this time, Powerline is content that this issue is subsumed within other issues that are agreed upon, and specifically the issues outlined in 2.4 of the agreed-upon issues list, so I don't feel compelled to pursue this issue.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Anyone else who was a proponent of this issue have a comment?

Mr. Fallis, Mr. Ross, you are content that it is subsumed?

MR. ROSS:  Yes, thank you.  

MR. FALLIS:  Yes, on behalf of the Fallis Group.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  All right.  
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 2.5


MS. NOWINA:  We can move on to 2.5, then:  
"If the Board is considering approval of the project application prior to the approval of the EA report, is it fair to consider the quantitative and qualitative impacts contemplated in the EA terms of reference when deciding to grant leave?"


Mr. Sperduti.
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MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, I have gone through my submissions concerning the relevance of the EA process to the Board's process.

Against the risk of sounding repetitive, it is not a question of environment.  It is a question of alternatives and impacts, as they relate to pricing, reliability and quality of service.

I am content not to repeat those submissions again.  This issue itself relates to looking at the terms of reference in the absence of a full EA, and I think the Board has already indicated that it intends to revisit the issue of the terms of reference.

So I am prepared to leave it at that, Madam Chair, and wait to hear from my friend.  I may have some submissions in reply.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Fallis or Mr. Ross, do you have any comments on this?
Submissions by Mr. Fallis


MR. FALLIS:  I have no specific comment.  I adopt Mr. Sperduti's comments as mentioned.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.
Submissions by Mr. Ross


MR. ROSS:  I also adopt Mr. Sperduti's comments, but would only add one thing, very briefly.

You can probably see from the language of the issue that it is taking into consideration the Board filing requirements when doing the cost benefit analysis and investigating options specifically with regards to the language of quantitative and qualitative impacts.

Again, I acknowledge that it is not statutory, but it is a directive provided by the Board for the assistance of the proponent when preparing their application materials and when considering alternatives from the already articulated jurisdiction of the Board, quality, reliability, et cetera.

Our suggestion here is that in the absence of the information that would be available through the EA report process, should the Board not consider, in this instance I think the most appropriate would be the qualitative impacts that the proposed project provides and what advantages or disadvantages it has to the alternatives.

Again, as Mr. Sperduti has articulated, and I can't agree more, how can these alternatives be contemplated by the Board in a vacuum of information?  There are no alternatives that would include -- we don't want you to look at the effect on tree frogs.  However, if the effect on tree frogs is going to somehow affect ratepayers, quality or quantity of service, then that is something that should be taken into consideration.  

And that, again, I would submit is contemplated in the Board filing requirements when the language "qualitative" is taken into consideration.

Those are, subject to your questions, my submissions on that point.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Any others?  Mr. Klippenstein.  No?  Mr. Nettleton.
Submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

My submissions again relate to two areas of concern with this particular question, and it is that; it is stated as a question.

The question again is one asking for a fairness determination.  Is it fair?  

This is a matter of argument.  This is not a matter -- in part, it is a matter of argument.  And it is asking -- the argument is seeking parties to effectively include, as evidence in this proceeding, evidence that goes to a question of fairness.

We would see the question of fairness ultimately being a matter that is considered at the end of the day, but the argument that my friend is seeking by including this issue is an argument that is based upon evidence adduced in the EA process.

The issue suggests the consideration of quantitative and qualitative impacts contemplated in the EA terms of reference.

What is specifically contemplated is that there would be an inclusion in your process of all of the evidence in order to come to some understanding of what the qualitative and quantitative impacts are.  

The question is:  Is any of that relevant to your consideration and the determinations that you must make pursuant to the governing legislation that is before us and before -- and relevant to this proceeding?  

I don't mean to sound like a broken record, but the issue of jurisdiction, the issue of the Board's consideration of section 92 and, in particular, section 96(2), is clear.

What this issue attempts to do is to revisit that and have that body of evidence included in this proceeding, that body of evidence being the environmental-assessment evidence, included in this proceeding so that you may make a fairness determination about that evidence as it relates to price and quality of electricity service.

We say that is not right.  We say that is inappropriate.  We say that the process that this Board has dealt with, in respect of the consideration of price and quality matters for section 92 applications, is one separate and apart from EA, and the way it is dealt with is through conditions.  That is the process.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Anyone else supporting the position of Mr. Nettleton want to make a comment?  Mr. Sperduti.
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MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, the language "qualitative and quantitative impacts", that is not language that Powerline has specifically invented.  It is language that is common to the Board and, indeed, included as part of the Board's filing requirements.  

So the fact that we're getting into a discussion about qualitative and quantitative impacts is nothing new to the proponent.

To be clear, our position is that it is inappropriate to go through with the process in the absence of a full EA report, but that being said, and on the understanding that the Board may grant a conditional approval, the landowners want to introduce what little information there may be by the time of the hearing, which is the terms of reference.

I think this Board is interested to know what the terms of reference contemplate, whether they're settled or whether they're approved by the Minister of the Environment before the hearing.  I don't think that it is unfair at all or irrelevant to the Board's consideration to look at the terms of reference as they relate to price and quality of service and reliability.

It may be that my friend may argue when we present the evidence that it is irrelevant and ought not to be considered by the Board.  But let's not prejudge the issue now, is my submission.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sperduti, I'm not clear on what issue it is you want to pursue in the proceeding.  The way it is worded, the issue is a discussion and, I gather, evidence on fairness.  Yet what you just said makes me think, and I think what Mr. Ross said - he said this, as well - was you're looking for the Board to consider the qualitative and quantitative impacts contemplated in the EA.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I agree it wouldn't offend Powerline to delete the word "fair", or I suppose it should read --

MS. NOWINA:  So is what you're looking for consideration, an issue in this case, which is the home for a discussion of the terms of reference and any qualitative and quantitative impact they might have on Hydro One's proposal?

MR. SPERDUTI:  As they relate to pricing, reliability and quality of service.

MS. NOWINA:  Exactly.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes.  The language of the issue as it is prepared probably doesn't do as much justice to the thought as the way we've just characterized it, but I think you have captured the intention.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Right now, all we have is a draft terms of reference.  They filed a draft and submitted terms of reference to the EA process.  So that would be the document that would be considered, unless an approved one appeared sometime during the process of the hearing?

MR. SPERDUTI:  Presumably so.  If there isn't an approved terms of reference, then there may be nothing to consider.

I think that what is contemplated -- this assumes that there will be an approved terms of reference before the hearing.  If there is no approved terms of reference, the Board may very well have a motion about whether the hearing should take place at all, but we assume that the terms of reference will be settled between now and January.

So I think what was contemplated there was an approved terms of reference, assuming they're in place.  And I think that probably the better language would say -- to delete the words "is it fair to" and substitute the words "should the Board".  So it would read:  
"If the Board is considering approval of the project application prior to approval of the EA report, should the Board consider the qualitative and quantitative impacts?"


MS. NOWINA:  Well, even that, Mr. Sperduti, do you want the issue to be whether or not we should consider, or do you want the issue to be that it would be considered and have that as an issue on the list?

So it would read:  "What are the quantitative and qualitative impacts contemplated in the EA" that becomes an issue.  I'm not trying to put words in your mouth, I'm just trying to clarify.  

MR. SPERDUTI:  No, Madam Chair, I am always grateful for assistance with drafting, and I think that you have a better understanding of the issue right now than I do.

I agree that the language that you have suggested would better capture, the thought.  

MS. NOWINA:  So, I --

MR. SPERDUTI:  A fresh set of eyes sometimes helps.

MS. NOWINA:  Given that, of course, then I have to go back to Mr. Nettleton and see how he feels about that.
Further submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  It strikes me, Madam Chair, that the focus is not where it should be.

What I mean by that is, is the focus is -- the issue is the quantitative and qualitative impacts associated with the project as proposed.

The inclusion of this issue as drafted means to suggest that existing agreed-upon issues that are on the list, are not sufficient to capture the concept of qualitative and quantitative impacts.

As it relates to price, there is going to be cost benefit analysis.  As it relates to quality of electricity service, we have, you know, section 2.4(b) where it talks about "appropriate comparisons on all reasonable alternatives with respect to reliability and quality of electricity service."


I can't see how the breadth of that issue is not one that would allow parties to raise all relevant - and I stress "relevant" - considerations relating to the topic of qualitative and quantitative impacts.

The debate, I think, is being focussed upon whether qualitative and quantitative impacts in the EA process specifically are matters that should be considered in this proceeding.  And Hydro One says, that's not relevant.  That type of evidence is not relevant to this proceeding.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

Mr. Sperduti, do you need to say anything?
Further submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  I don't want to belabour the point.  If there are qualitative and quantitative impacts that affect prices, reliability, and quality of electrical service, I can't see why those concerns arising from the EA process -- or I can't see why the Board is prohibited from looking at those issues, just because they emanate from the EA process.

I anticipate marking the terms of reference as an exhibit at the hearing, and having my friend object to it as being irrelevant.  And that is why we have included it on the list today.  He stressed the word "relevant".
Further submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, if there is some cogent relationship between a qualitative and quantitative impact that concerns price and quality of electricity service, it is relevant.  Those are the defining features.  But to include this issue suggests that everything in the EA process, and specifically defined in the EA process, is inclusive as a relevant issue for debate and consideration before this Board, and this is what we oppose.

The factors that should govern the issues list are the factors set out in your legislation:  price and quality of electricity service.  Not factors that are governed outside this process.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 2.6

Let's move to issue 2.6:  
"Is the additional cost of the use of narrow-base towers to reduce impacts on classes 1 to 3, agricultural lands and farm operations, justified?"


Mr. Sperduti.
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MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, the advice that we are receiving is that the use of narrow-base towers, although more costly, would reduce impacts, and thereby have a beneficial result for rates and pricing.

I am told by Board Staff that this specific issue has been considered before, and that it has been held that it's beyond the Board's jurisdiction in a leave-to-construct application to opine or rule upon what type of towers ought to be used in any given case.

I looked at the case law that Board Staff referred me to, and was unable to find a clear statement of that limitation in the jurisdiction.

So I am interested to hear from Board Staff, of course, about the cases or case that limits the jurisdiction, but in the absence of a specific case that limits the jurisdiction, I think this is clearly an issue that goes to cost, and as such, directly relates to pricing, reliability, quality of electrical service.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Sperduti, just so I understand.  The way I interpret the issue as it is currently worded, it is that the issue is whether or not a cost benefit analysis of narrow-base towers would lead one to the conclusion that they are justified.

I interpreted that to be the costs of the towers -- that is the cost of the towers, but the benefits had to do with the socio-economic and environmental impacts on the lands affected.  And that is where I am struggling a bit, as to how that is related to what's within our mandate.

I can see the ultimate cost of the towers is related to the ultimate price, but that would seem to me to be within the assessment of the estimates of the costs, and the impacts on rates.

So I am having trouble with how this issue is currently worded, how that goes to what it is we're supposed to be looking at.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Well, I think that you have captured in your question the thought, which is:  There is a clear pricing implication for -- arising out of the costs of the project.  So the reduction of impacts isn't necessarily an environmental issue.

If you will allow me for a moment to consider how Hydro One will compensate people.  I realize compensation is not within the purview of this Board's jurisdiction, but bear with me for a moment.

When Hydro One comes to construct this line, they're going to use whatever tower they're going to use.  If they use a narrow-base tower which has a lesser impact, then their land acquisition costs will presumably decrease because the impact in the nature of injurious affection, or reduction in the value of adjacent lands, would be lesser.

So to the extent that this relates directly to land acquisition costs -- and I expect that there will be a consideration of land acquisition costs in the cost benefit analysis; it is a cost benefit analysis, and one of the costs is land acquisition.  So to the extent that the use of narrow-base towers will reduce injurious affection or compensation entitlements, they will have a direct impact on the costs of the overall project, not just for the towers themselves, but for land acquisition costs and compensation costs.

So, in our submission, although it isn't within this Board's jurisdiction to consider the issue of compensation, it is relevant to the Board's determination of the best option for pricing and quality and reliability, to look at how can we reduce the ultimate cost of the project to the ratepayers.


So that is how we envision the issue of impacts.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I am hoping that assists.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, it does.  Thank you.  

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, do you have any comments?
Submissions by Mr. Fallis


MR. FALLIS:  Madam Chair, I understand that earlier this year, the Board had the opportunity to consider that issue in a case involving the Toyota plant at Woodstock, where there was a discussion about using these towers.  I would suggest if it was topical for the Board to consider it in that case where it was raised, it should still be topical to raise the issue at this point of time, and so I would say it would be, with a leave-to-construct application.

I would suggest that this Board has authority for -- precedent for the inclusion of that topic in this leave hearing.  I would refer the Board to its own decision in that matter.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.  Mr. Ross, do you have comments?

MR. ROSS:  No, thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else in support of that?  

Mr. Nettleton?
Submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, thank you.

I am just reaching for my papers, as Mr. Fallis has made reference to the Toyota decision.

My recollection of reading that decision, Madam Chair, is that it was an application made pursuant to section 99 of the OEB Act.  It was an expropriation authorization, not an application concerning section 92 of the Act.  That distinguishes the issue completely.

The issue, as my friend Mr. Sperduti has indicated, is about matters related to compensation.  He has stated as much.  It is related to the impact of injurious affection and whether it is reasonable for Hydro One to provide compensation for lands in the manner in which it has -- intends to carry out with respect to the application as applied for.

Compensation is not a matter that is before this Board.  Ultimately, if Hydro One and parties come before this Board to argue that the rate impact of the lands and the land interests that Hydro One has obtained are so significant as to be unreasonable, that, I would submit, is an issue to save for another day in a rate case.

It would suggest that Hydro One has, in some way, acted imprudently in its quantification of injurious affection, that it has paid an inordinate amount for injurious affection.  It would strike us that that is not within the metes and bounds of what we're dealing with here in this proceeding.

The other issue that I would raise here, and concern, goes to Ms. Chaplin's point, and that is this issue is a classic example of the earlier concern that we had and I tried to portray to you, the detailed routing issue of going from one side of the right of way to the other.

The cost benefit analysis that you were suggesting with Mr. Sperduti of costs being clearly articulated and readily identifiable, but the benefits being socio-economic and relating to the EA process where socio-economic issues are going to be considered is this issue, and it is the reason why we have always said that matters related to detailed routing, such as a change in right of way, are going to have issues that are beyond the purview of this application before you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Nettleton, if I may interrupt you.  That was certainly my question to Mr. Sperduti, but that was not how I interpreted his answer.

I thought he is characterizing this issue as being, in his view, squarely within what we're looking at, a cost benefit analysis of the narrow-base towers from the perspective of what the total cost of this project would be.  In other words, yes, the towers presumably are more expensive, but the compensation -- I don't think he's suggesting we're looking at compensation, but the compensation would be less, and I guess he's making argument that that could be a better alternative as an economic question; not as an environmental question or a socio-economic question, but simply as -- so I thought his answer clarified that my initial interpretation was incorrect.

MR. NETTLETON:  And I want to be clear that the issue of cost is a matter that is relevant to this proceeding.

I would see that any party wanting to raise as an alternative a project that includes narrow-base towers and to lead evidence dealing with the costs of narrow based towers as a proposed alternative is something that falls within section 2.1 of a discussion relating to alternatives.

But what I am not clear on is why this particular issue of narrow-base towers commands the type of respect and importance as being an issues list matter.  It would strike us to be an area of, perhaps, questioning through the interrogatory process:  Did Hydro One consider the use of narrow-base towers in its consideration of alternatives?  That may very well be a legitimate question, but why it must be an issue for the issues list is not clear.

MR. FALLIS:  Madam Chair, if I may come back --

MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Fallis.  Mr. Sperduti, have you completed your submissions?


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis.

Further Submissions by Mr. Fallis


MR. FALLIS:  The Toyota case was number 2007-0027.  I have it up on the screen.  Paragraph 2 said:   
"Hydro One hereby applies to the Energy Board pursuant to section 92 of the Ontario Energy Board Act for an order granting leave to construct transmission line facilities in the County of Oxford, the City of Woodstock..." et cetera.  "...These facilities are required to increase transmission capacity in the Woodstock area to ensure the availability and quality of electrical supply to consumers in the area." (as read)


I would suggest that Mr. Nettleton is not correct.

MS. NOWINA:  That's the case in which the towers were discussed, but I think there was a subsequent expropriation case, but within this case the towers were discussed?

MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  It was topical for the discussion and I think there is no reason why that can't be topical for the consideration of this Board.  It is certainly relevant to the landowners and to the costs.  It is a factor, and I don't see any reason why there should be a delineation and removal of that discussion.  It certainly affects every owner of farm land certainly within 180 kilometres of lines.  

It is a very narrow width we're talking about, but a very long length, and it is certainly -- conservation of land is certainly a question of cost beyond environmental assessment.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you for the clarification.

Mr. Millar, can you --
Submissions by Mr. Millar


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, if I could just address one single issue.  I did want to address Mr. Sperduti's comments about the discussion we had last week, and, in fact, we did speak informally with Mr. Sperduti either Thursday or Friday, I can't recall which.

We did discuss some court jurisprudence relating to the Board's jurisdiction to deal with this type of issue.  It is true that at that time, I think we indicated we were still reviewing the cases, but it was our understanding that the court had ruled that we can't look at that, and we encouraged Mr. Sperduti to look at the cases himself.

Since that time, obviously Mr. Sperduti has read the cases and we have had a more careful read of them ourselves, and I don't disagree with what he is saying now, that the court was not as definitive as we had originally thought.  In fact, it is kind of a torturous decision.  There is three or four.  It went to the Divisional Court, then the Court of Appeal, and then leave to Supreme Court was rejected. 

But ultimately it doesn't look like the court ever actually addressed the question that was originally before it.

So I do want -- I guess I want to apologize to Mr. Sperduti for leaving him with that impression, but I guess we knew as a good lawyer he would look at the cases himself, and he did, and so did we.  

So to the extent that he was misled by the way -- by our discussion, I do apologize for that.  It is no longer our view that the Supreme Court or a court of appeal has said that you cannot look at this type of issue.  

That is not to say we have a view one way or the other on whether it goes in in this case, but it is not prohibited by the courts.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Anyone else opposed to this proposal?  Mr. Nettleton, did you want to add something?
Further submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Just as a follow-up to Mr. Fallis' comments about getting the case wrong.  The case that I understood to be the Toyota case - and that's the problem; I think there are two - is 2006-0352 was the one that I was thinking of, which was a case dealing with section 99 of the Act.  So I was thinking of that case as being the one that he was referring to.  So it helps to know which case it was we were speaking of.

MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  Mr. Sperduti.
Further Submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  First of all, thank you, Mr. Millar, for the clarification.  I think we both came away from our discussion with the understanding that I would look at the cases, and you didn't mislead anybody.  But thank you for the clarification.

Mr. Nettleton's submission is, Why does this command the kind of respect as to put it into a separate issue on the issues list?

Hydro One thinks that the routing for the corridor is too detailed an analysis to have to undertake for this leave to construct.  Why in the world would we think that a consideration of the type of towers that they're going to use would be relevant from Hydro's perspective?  And that is why we have included it on the list, because we want to make it an issue in the hearing.

The project alternatives that Mr. Nettleton referred us to as subsuming this issue 2.1 says, Have all reasonable alternatives to the project been identified; not, Have all reasonable alternatives to the implementation of the scheme been considered.


And to the extent that narrow-base towers increase costs, but may reduce overall project costs, I think it is a relevant issue, and it is not subsumed in any of the other issues.  

Those are my submissions in reply.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Sperduti.
Procedural Matters


I think at this point we will break for lunch.  Just a comment on the document here.  I notice that after issue 2.7, it moves to area 4.  We don't seem to have any 3s on the issue list.  Was that just an error, or were there some issues that -- there is nothing in the 3 section, and you're doing them --

MR. MILLAR:  I don't think we're missing any contested issues, Madam Chair.  I didn't actually prepare this document, so I am not sure, but I think the important point is all the contested issues are on this list, unless I am mistaken.  I see Mr. Sperduti may have a comment.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, it is true that the issues list, the contested issues list, captures a discussion from the Issues Conference.

Although I did receive an urgent e-mail and package from one of my clients this morning, urging me to seek two additional words be added to one of the non-contested issues, but I am going to propose that I have a discussion with my friend Mr. Nettleton about this over the break, and perhaps we can come to an understanding about it; and if we can't, then maybe I will ask for the Board's direction when we come back.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  That's fine.  We will break until 2 o'clock.  

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:55 p.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 2:06 p.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Did any matters arise during the break?

MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sperduti.
Procedural matters


MR. SPERDUTI:  As a matter of fact, one did.  I believe it is agreed to by Mr. Nettleton for Hydro One.  On issue 3, with respect to each of 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3, Powerline proposed to add the words -- well, after the word "proposed", to add the words "near-term and", so that it would read "are the proposed near-term and interim measures as outlined", et cetera, and to make that addition to all three subsections.

And I believe my friend says that Hydro One is fine with that.

MR. NETTLETON:  There is just one clarification.  It may just be for consistency we modify the title 3.0 to read "Interim and near-term measures".


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  All right.  
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 2.7

Are we ready to proceed with contested issue 2.7?  I believe that is the one:
"Can a reasonable cost benefit analysis be prepared in the absence of an EA report?"  

Mr. Sperduti.
Submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I don't propose to restate my earlier submissions, unless there is some further clarification that the Board requires.

I think that I've made submissions on this point, and I believe Mr. Ross has also made submissions on it, so I will rest on that, unless you have questions.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Ross or Mr. Fallis, do you have any more comments on that one?

MR. ROSS:  I am personally comfortable relying on the submissions earlier made, as well as adopt any position held by Mr. Sperduti.
Submissions by Mr. Fallis


MR. FALLIS:  That's the same answer for us.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Nettleton.
Submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, our grounds for opposition are well understood.

The question as framed or the issue as framed is intended to take into account the evidence that is going to be put forward and considered during the EA process.  We don't see the cost benefit analysis requirements for this proceeding to be reliant upon it.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have a submission on this one?
Submissions by Mr. Millar 


MR. MILLAR:  Very briefly, Madam Chair.  I don't have much to add.  In fact, much of what I planned to say under issue 2.7 I said in response to your question earlier.  So unless you have any further questions of me, I have nothing to add on this issue.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 4.1


MS. NOWINA:  So we will move on to the 4 series of issues, then, the first being issue 4.1.  And there are two alternatives there, so I gather we're going to talk about both of the alternatives at once.

The issue is the first alternative proposed by Board Staff in the original draft issues list; is that correct?  That, as it is, worded was proposed by Board Staff in the original draft issues list?

MR. MILLAR:  I think that is right, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  It reads:

"Is the recommended alternative superior to all other reasonable alternatives with regard to stability and transient stability levels, voltage performance and loss-of-load expectation projections under normal and post contingency conditions?"

The second wording provided by Hydro One is similar in all ways, except the first phrase is, "How does the recommended alternative compare?", as opposed to Board Staff's, which is, "Is the recommended alternative superior?"

I don't know whether Board Staff wants to begin with this one, Mr. Millar, or shall we get Mr. Nettleton to begin?

MR. MILLAR:  I would prefer not to go first, Madam Chair because I don't see us as actually being opposed to Hydro One's wording, and I hadn't prepared submissions with relation to issue 4.1.

In fact, I am not entirely certain of what the nature of the dispute is.  Perhaps if Mr. Nettleton wanted to go, I could pay attention to him and if we do have further remarks to make, if we do object to their wording, I can say so.  But at this time, I am actually not aware of what our objection to this may be.

MS. NOWINA:  Well, before we spend any time on it, does anyone object to Hydro One's wording?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, yes, Pollution Probe thinks this is a pretty important issue, so I am prepared to address that, or Mr. Nettleton, whatever.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So let Mr. Nettleton begin, then.
Further submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Sure.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

The issue that we discussed last week that gave rise to the agreement to disagree related to the implied threshold of superior alternative having to be demonstrated.  That's found in Staff's proposed language.

Hydro One is of the view is that the importance of the evidentiary record is to demonstrate that there is a record sufficient for parties and for the Board to make an informed decision about how alternatives relate to one another, and ultimately it is for the Board to make a determination of whether or not the proposed alternative is the one that is in the public interest, taking into account the factors that are spelled out in section 96(2).

So what we felt was perhaps a better way to frame the issue and allow parties to make whatever arguments they would like to make is the language that is found in part B, "How does the recommended alternative compare?"

The concern that we have is that the recommended alternative ought not to be placed on a threshold of demonstrating that there is some superiority as compared to other alternatives and every facet of each alternative; that is to say, that each -- how they compare, how alternatives compare, at the end of the day are going to be determined by the Board, not by the individual parties.  Those are my submissions.

MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone else want to make a comment in support of Hydro One's submission?

Mr. Klippenstein.
Submissions by Mr. Klippenstein


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

In Pollution Probe's view and understanding, this is a very, very important issue, and it is actually a little bit scary and a little bit outrageous to hear Hydro One say these things, in my submission.  And it is an escape from what their onus is and, when the stakes are very high, to say, we don't have to bear a whole lot of onus on this.

Let me start, if I can, by referring you to the Pollution Probe document book, again.  If you would turn up tab 2, first of all, the first page, which is the page numbered 3 of the document book, which is the covering letter regarding filing requirements.  I have highlighted a sentence at the middle, which states what I would have thought was a basic principle, which says:
"The material presented is the applicant's case and the onus is on the applicant to prove the need for the approval being requested."

Then if you would turn to section 5.3.2 of the filing requirements, Panel, or materials, which is page 9 of the reference book, I would again raise something that I mentioned earlier today very briefly, which says, and this is highlighted nearly two-thirds down the page.  It says:   
"In the case of a non-discretionary project, the preferred options should establish that it is a better project than the alternatives."

Again, it is Hydro One's position this is a non-discretionary project.  I respectfully disagree with that.  That will be dealt with later, I believe.  But even by their terms, this would suggest very clearly that the preferred option should meet the test of it being a better project than the alternatives.

So, frankly, this seems to me that Hydro One is trying to escape the filing requirement onus, on this particular topic of reliability and quality.

Aside from being a filing threshold, or a threshold that is clearly stated in the filing requirements, it seems to me it is kind of common sense, and it seems to me it makes a whole lot of sense from a policy and financial-planning point of view.

If you look at the change they are proposing, it is changing from the question of whether the alternative is superior to others, to the question of:  How does it compare?

Now, I don't know whether that is just weasel wording.  I don't think so.  I think that that is a dramatic decrease in the intellectual and evidentiary threshold that they want to meet.  When a person, whether it is me going shopping, or a public body or government wants to spend a sizeable chunk of money, it seems common sense that you want to get the best deal.  You want to make the best decision.  And you don't just want to compare alternatives and then -- and then what?  You know, just say here's a couple of alternatives and I see they all have some logic and so it doesn't really matter. 

But again, Pollution Probe has some serious concerns.  I hate to keep saying this, but it is fundamentally important, there is more than $600 million at stake.  Again, the evidence so far says:  This is no increase in transmission capacity.

So, so far, the only justification I can find is under this heading "reliability"; in other words, this is increasing the -- It's a backup to the other existing transmission line.

Then they're putting it in the same corridor, where, you know, if you have an ice storm or tornado, the chances of them both being affected seem to me to be very high, instead of some other corridor.

So Pollution Probe says with this amount of money, and this is ratepayers' money, the question should be:  Is this a better alternative than the others?

There has to be a certain amount of -- a key aspect of weighing which is better.  This is a blatant attempt to escape from that.

So I don't know whether -- I am very surprised.  I gather that the OPA and IESO support this change, I gather, and I have to ask, what is the problem?  Why do they not want to be put to the onus of saying this is actually the best choice?  We have looked at everything and this is the best choice, and we have the evidence and the argument to demonstrate it to you as an independent observer; are they afraid of that?

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein, I believe Ms. Chaplin has a question.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  Thanks.  Sorry to interrupt, but I would have -- correct me if I'm wrong -- but I would have interpreted the wording in B to, in fact, allow the kind of analysis that you are suggesting needs to be done.  In other words, how does it compare?

So you may want to lead evidence or make an argument that it is inferior, and therefore whatever flows from that.  I don't understand how the proposed wording in B precludes an argument or evidence that, in fact, another alternative might be as good as or superior.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, I think the way you have described it highlights my concerns, because it makes it a foggy question of:  Who is supposed to show what to whom?  I mean, an argument could be made that this is -- 

Pollution Probe doesn't see itself as in the role of having to bear any kind of onus to say that there is some other alternative better than the one before it.  And that is exactly my concern.

I may be missing something, but I think the specific written procedures before this, and the general legal procedures, say there is an onus.  And it is an onus, and there is a particular person or body that bears that onus, and we know who it is.  It is Hydro One.  And that onus says:  You have to show, you have to actually show something.  You have to show that A is better than B.  

Now, I mean, I guess one could logically say that, you know, as my friend just did:  We're going to put a bunch of options before you as the Board and you can choose the best one.  But I don't think that is your role.  In fact, Ms. Chaplin, you more or less said something similar to that before. 

They are the ones who are equipped to study it and say:  This one is the best.  And come forward and say to the Board:  This one is the best, by which I mean it is the most sensible way to spend ratepayers' money.  

Now, we may actually say, based on the evidence now, we'll say:  It doesn't make sense at all.  Don't even spend that money, $600 million, at all, because not only are you not adding more transmission capacity, you are putting -- if reliability and security is the issue -- you are putting one next to the other, and so if there is an ice storm, I don't know, what are you going to say:  Yeah, they'll both get hit but we have learned how to make towers stronger now?  I suppose you could say that.


But the question that Pollution Probe will put is, the only thing that ratepayers are getting from this, as far as we can tell, is slightly better security, if at all.  

So I don't feel Pollution Probe should have to say you're spending $600 million for next to nothing and perhaps nothing, and the onus is on me to say that doesn't cut it.

In my submission, they have the knowledge, they have the information and they have the onus to say -- they want to spend $600 million of other people's money.  Even at the most abstract governmental planning policy level, there should be someone with the onus, and it shouldn't be the Energy Board, I respectfully say, to make the judgment call and defend it.

To some extent perhaps you're right that the second one about comparing allows what I am saying, but I am really worried that stepping away from the first one is trying to slither out of the onus.  And I don't understand why they would even say that.

I say it is better to make it clear that they have an onus to say:  This is the best choice and we can defend it. So that is my submission.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.  

Does anyone else want to make a submission supporting Mr. Klippenstein's position?  Mr. Ross.  
Submissions by Mr. Ross


MR. ROSS:  I think that my friend just distilled one of the fundamental issues that we're dealing with, with the language of the contested issues, and that is the shifting of onus.

It's acknowledged - and maybe this just needs to be put on the record - it is acknowledged that the proponent has an onerous burden in carrying out the requirements of this application.  There is no question about that.  

However, as my friend has indicated, they are the ones with the resources and the technical ability to do so.  This is a regulatory oversight function that the Board is conducting, and a great deal of trust is placed in the proponent, in order for them to fulfil their requirements.  

What we're hearing, and what I have heard my friend Mr. Nettleton say on numerous occasions, is the respondents have the opportunity to lead evidence of different alternatives.  Well, that isn't our responsibility.

It is the responsibility of the applicant to do a thorough and searching review of reasonable alternatives, to provide detailed information about those alternatives and for us, then, to test that evidence either with evidence to the contrary, or to simply do it through cross-examination.  But it is not for the respondents to come up with wholly new alternatives.

I agree with my friend from Pollution Probe's submissions that the language distinction is an important one, in that it does prevent against that slippery slope of onus shifting.

We, as the respondents, should not be in a position to be seeking experts, to come up with alternatives, to provide those to the Board, and then have the proponent say: Well, no, we have looked into that it and it really doesn't make sense for the following reasons.  I couldn't even imagine preparing a bill of costs on those grounds, where you've got 85 consultants that would be necessary in order to come up with what the proponent is already able to do, and is required to do. But it does come back to an issue of trust, as I have indicated.

We are in the hands of the applicants, and the only control that we have here is to make sure that the issues are broad enough to ensure that the responsibility that is clearly the applicants has been carried out, so that the Board is able to determine, in its function, whether we can proceed with the project.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  Anyone else supporting that position?
Further submissions by Mr. Sperduti 

MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, just briefly.  Sorry, my microphone, is it on?  I think it is on.

The issue of comparison I think is implicit in the use of the word "superior".  In order to determine whether something is superior, you have to have some kind of comparison.

So the moving away from a threshold into how does one compare with the other, in Powerline's submission, is to dilute the onus that Hydro bears.  So I am not going to repeat the submissions of my friends, but clearly, it is necessary to have some kind of a threshold there, despite Hydro's submissions. 

The Board's filing requirements say that they must demonstrate that it is better than the alternatives.  Whether you use the words "superior to" or "better than" may be a question of semantics, but to eliminate the threshold altogether is, in our submission, unacceptable.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Fallis.
Further submissions by Mr. Fallis



MR. FALLIS:  Madam Chair, in the Board documents for its filing requirements, Mr. Klippenstein has referred to the -- in the case of a non-discretionary project, the preferred option should establish that it is a better project than the alternatives.  Hydro One has, it is its position that it is non-discretionary.

I would suggest that the Board Staff have written the draft issues list contemplating that the rules are requirements, and they wrote it that way.  It is their wording that has been proposed and is the recommended alternative superior to all other considered options.  That's what Board Staff have, and they're only following the rules that have been established by the Board.  I would submit that they have got it right.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.  Mr. Nettleton.
Further submissions by Mr. Nettletion


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

This is a very curious debate we're having, a debate about onus.  It was never the intent to have that debate at all.

The contested issue, number 4.1, A versus B, falls under the heading of item 4, which is reliability and quality of electricity service.

Somehow it has moved itself into a much greater issue about what the applicant's overall onus is in this proceeding, about whether it is as stated in section 5.3.2 of the Guidelines for Filing Requirements, that is entitled "Options and Cost Benefit Analysis", not system reliability, about whether one alternative is better than the other.

Let's be clear here.  We're having a discussion about a contested issue that falls within section 4.  Section 4 deals with the topic of reliability and quality of electricity service.

The matter that we believe is important and is relevant to the discussion of quality and reliability of electricity service is the comparisons of the alternatives considered, full stop.

As it relates to the overall onus that the proponent has or the applicant has, that onus is prescribed in administrative law:  He who alleges must prove.  And what Hydro One must prove to you at the end of the day is not what is in the guidelines for filing.  What's required is set out in the statute, that the application that is before you is in the public interest.  

The statute doesn't say that the project is defined to be an alternative that is recommended to be superior to all others.  The threshold is the public interest, and the public interest is, as you are well aware, a broad concept.

The public interest is limited by what section 96(2) says; namely, considerations relating to price and quality of electricity service.  And those limitations also are not expressly stated to mean an alternative superior to all others.

What we think is important for the evidentiary process of your proceeding is that you have the best record, the best record to make a determination about what is in the public interest.

Hydro One at the end of the day will stand up and rise to the challenge of ensuring that the project that is before you is in the public interest.  Other parties may take a different view, and they may very well do so on the basis that they view the alternative that is proposed to be inferior, but that is argument.  

That is not what this proceeding is about.  That is not what issues day is about.  This is about scoping the evidence that is to come before you.  And that is why we submit section 4.1B as proposed about a comparison of the alternatives is the evidence that you need and should be the focus of parties to understand how that relates to the topic of quality and reliability of electricity service.

Those are my submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Nettleton, I'm not sure if you can help me with my question or it may in fact be a question for Board Staff, but in looking at the agreed issue 2.4(b), which says:
"Have the appropriate comparisons been carried out on all reasonable alternatives with respect to reliability and quality of electricity service?"


I am just curious what your interpretation of what 4.1B, I will call it, to identify the one with the wording you proposed, what -- how the two are distinguished.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  It is a very good question, because the language is -- not to sound pejorative, but it is redundant.  We're talking about comparisons.  We're talking about different elements of quality and reliability.

I believe that the concept that we understood Staff to want the applicant to focus in on was related to specific items like stability, transient stability levels, voltage performance, those particular elements that are spelled out in the Staff's suggested 4.1 A.

Hydro One does not have an issue of ensuring that those elements of reliability and quality of electricity service are considered in the comparison.

Indeed, there was some discussion relating to how 2.4 and area 4 or topic 4 relate to one another.  I think the idea was having some or maybe all of this wrapped up or rolled up into a discussion of alternatives, because it is all related to a comparison of alternatives.  

I guess what I'm saying is it may well be that the placement of 4.1 A or A is subsumed into another item under 2.4.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.
Further submissions by Mr. Klippenstein


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, if I can address that, if I could make a comment on that question, the similarity or difference or overlap between the part of 2 and 4.

And that is I think important, because what 4 does is it adds the criterion and the question of asking which is actually better.

When the question is simply, as it is in number 2, "Have the comparisons been made?", you can make a comparison without focussing in on the issue of which is better.  

So the Board could be presented with a comparison, and unless that comparison is geared to the question of which is better, it may not be that helpful.

I mean, you can compare things in many different ways.  To focus the purpose of the comparison, in my submission, it is useful to say, Help me decide which is better.  Now, that presumes you actually want to decide which is better.  In my submission, that is what you should decide for the public of Ontario.

But if the applicant is not directed to make the comparison for purposes of determining, in your mind, which is better, you may not get the information you need.

MS. NOWINA:  Let me go back to you, Mr. Nettleton.
Further submissions by Mr. Nettleton

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, I don't mean to repeat myself, but, again, Mr. Klippenstein's arguments are predicated upon 5.3.2 of the guidelines for filing.  We're in a different area.  We're in a different topic.  We're in a topic of system reliability and quality of electricity service, not cost benefit.

The only other point that I wanted to raise were the comments provided by Mr. Ross, relating to this process.  And it strikes me that there does need to be some direction from the Board, to provide an understanding to all parties of what their roles and expectations are in this proceeding.

My understanding of it, Madam Chair, for what it is worth, is that all parties are going to be afforded the opportunity to file evidence, and to put forward their positions in respect to matters that are on the issues list.

If parties believe there is a better option that meets the need, this process and this hearing is going to avail the opportunity to parties to provide that.

That doesn't mean to say that there is some shirking of the onus that is afforded to the applicant of demonstrating that they must prove that the application, as applied for, is in the public interest.  But it does provide others with the opportunity of filing evidence.  If parties wish to only criticize the applicant's application, they can take that tack.  But if they have a concrete proposal, that has got to be made through evidence.

Those are my submissions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  

MR. ROSS:  If I could say one very brief thing, Madam Chair, and using --

MS. NOWINA:  I have a question for Mr. Nettleton first.  Let me ask that and we will see if we need to go back to you, Mr. Ross.  


I confess to being a little puzzled in your concern, Mr. Nettleton, of parsing these words.  Regardless of the reference to the guidelines or us making a decision in the public interest, is there a reason that Hydro One would not want to file evidence that provided comparisons that would illustrate to the Board whether or not the alternative that Hydro One has chosen is superior to the other alternatives, in terms of reliability?  

MR. NETTLETON:  I think the answer to that question is:  The comparisons will be whatever they are.  That is to say that how one ranks versus the other, will ultimately be shown.

It is a quantitative discussion that we're having about quality of electricity service and reliability, as it relates to matters concerning stability and transient stability levels.

So it strikes us that the parsing of the "alternative superior", there may be elements of that comparison that show one option has better attributes than another, or indeed the selected alternative.  But overall, Hydro One is going to have to argue in those circumstances and demonstrate to the Board that the one that they are selecting is better and in the public interest, as compared to all others.

But the suggestion that we have to meet a superiority standard, it strikes us, for the purposes of the evidentiary record, is not what should be of concern and the focus at Issues Day.  

The issues list should look at ensuring that the evidentiary record is one that shows comparison.  Let parties argue which alternative is superior, and let parties be the ones that are able to convince you or not, whether what the applicant says is, in fact, the case.  

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Mr. Ross, did you have something new to add?  

MR. ROSS:  No, thank you, your question and Mr. Nettleton's answer did exactly what I was hoping.
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 4.2


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  All right.  Let's go on to issue 4.2, which reads:  
"Does the placement of 6000 plus megawatts of transmission capacity on one right-of-way create an unacceptable risk for consumers and system reliability?"


The proponent of this issue was Powerline Connections. Mr. Sperduti.
Submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

The reason this issue is articulated independently, apart from the two agreed-upon issues in the agreed-upon list, is because, if you turn up the agreed-upon issues list, 4.1 and 4.2, there is reference with respect to the issue of reliability and quality of electrical service.  There is reference to the preferred option meeting all of the requirements identified in the system impact assessment and the customer impact assessment.  Then there is reference to applicable standards of reliability in 4.2.

But the issue that we propose to explore at this hearing is, regardless of whether or not the project meets this or that standard, is it an unacceptable risk to have all of this transmission capacity on one right of way?

Mr. Klippenstein referred to ice storms or tornados, and it is for this very reason that we submit this issue ought to be considered independently and framed in the manner that we have proposed.

In terms of relating it to your jurisdiction, it is clearly an issue about reliability and quality of electrical service.

Those are my submissions.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Sperduti.  Mr. Fallis --


MR. ROSS:  I have nothing to add.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  
Submissions by Mr. Fallis


MR. FALLIS:  The issue is that, as Mr. Klippenstein has indicated, it's putting two lines side by side, at least in the south and subject to what Mr. Sperduti indicated.  In fact from Bruce to Colbeck, it is three lines side by side.  So it is not one freestanding line, it is three lines, two 500s and a 230 kV, all in one corridor, very, very close to each other.

So that is the issue, and I think it has to be visited by the Board. 

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.  Anyone else have submissions on supporting this issue?  Mr. Nettleton.
Submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Very briefly, Madam Chair.  We did not see the current and agreed-upon issues list as requiring this issue for two reasons.

First, the issue does speak to a singular scenario, if you will.  That is the scenario of 6,000 plus megawatts.  If it is the position of the parties that that is what the case is before this Board, that is what is being applied for, then we would see the issue of unacceptable risk ultimately being an issue that could be considered under 2.1, which talks about:  Have all reasonable alternatives been considered and identified?

We would think, as part of that consideration, there would be a discussion about whether what is being proposed is acceptable or not.  That's point 1.

The second point is -- as it relates to system reliability, the reference to system reliability, again recalling that we are in section 4.2 -- what the agreed-upon list speaks to in 4.2 is:  Does the project meet applicable standards for reliability and quality of electricity service?

We submit that that should be the issue, that is to say, whether or not the applied-for project comports with applicable standards for reliability and quality of electricity service.  If there is a view or belief or interpretation that the standards that are applicable have not been complied with, or create an unacceptable risk for consumers or system reliability, again, that is something that we submit is covered off in section 4.2.  

Those are my submissions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, the issues that Pollution Probe is explicitly interested in have been completed.  I wonder if I might be excused, and my colleague, Mr. Alexander, is here if need be.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, you may, Mr. Klippenstein.  Mr. Sperduti, we will go back to you on this one.  Do you have any response?
Further submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, Madam Chair.  

Our position is that whether or not the proposed line meets the standards is not the threshold that the Board is mandated to apply.  And so what we want to do is explore the issue of reliability independent of the standards, and maybe we will be able to persuade this Board that even though the project does meet whatever standards Hydro One will show us it relies upon, that it is still an unacceptable risk for other reasons.

Clearly, it is in the Board's mandate to consider this issue in the public interest and determine whether leave ought to be granted.

So the most important concern is to have an exploration of this issue independent of the applicable standards and not be bound by those standards, as the Board's legislative mandate isn't bound by them.  

The other response that I wanted to offer to Mr. Nettleton.  He indicates that in his view the issue that we have identified as 4.2 on the contentious list is subsumed in 2.1 in the agreed-upon list.  I am not sure that we're comparing apples and apples, because section 2 is project alternatives, while section 4 is reliability and quality of electrical service.  

So to the extent that there is a distinction between those issues, I can't agree that it is subsumed.  But if there is another issue that is agreed upon which Hydro One will agree that the consideration of the contested issue before you is subsumed under, then we will look at that.

I am not married to the fact that it must be a separate, independent issue if Hydro One says it is subsumed in something else.  I don't think it is properly subsumed in section 2.1, but unless it is subsumed in another issue, then our submission is that it is relevant for the Board to consider and determine, independent of whatever standards the agreed-upon list references.
Further submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I apologize.  I was referring to section 2.1 and I think, in part, was because I couldn't find 1.3.

1.3 is on the contested issues list, at least in part, but there is a part that is non-contested.  It would most likely be -- if my friend wants to raise questions about the unacceptability of risk, 1.3 is dealing specifically with risk factors.

So I would see, again, if my friend is wanting to lead evidence dealing with what they believe to be unacceptable risks of the project, or if they want to ask questions about risk of the project, we would see 1.3 as being the issue that would be relevant in relation to that topic, and, thus, there would be opportunity for them to do that.

MS. NOWINA:  You see it as a risk pertaining to need and justification, as opposed to a risk pertaining to reliability?  The reading of 1.3 is "risk factors pertaining to the need and justification", I believe, if I have the right one.

MR. NETTLETON:  I take your point.  I think this is the confusion of 4.2.  When we say "create an unacceptable risk for consumers and system reliability", I was interpreting the "and" to be mutually exclusive; that is to say unacceptable risk would be one item, and the "and" relating to system reliability as being another part.  

That is why that other part we would see subsumed in what is already found in 4.2.

MS. NOWINA:  You say 1.3 covers the risk for consumers and 4.2, "Does the project meet applicable standards, reliability" to cover the reliability?


Let me ask you a question on that, Mr. Nettleton.  Would it never happen that Hydro One was bringing forth a project that they thought needed to be done for reliability which actually exceeded any standards of reliability, but for particular circumstances they believe that they needed to exceed standards?  That is, is the meeting of standards the only test for reliability?

MR. NETTLETON:  I will have to confer with my client.

MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.

[Counsel confers with clients]

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, we would look at that question, I guess, first by saying, Would Hydro One ever bring forward a project that didn't meet applicable standards, reliability standards?  I think the answer to that is "no", that those are the standards that we are obligated to meet.

The question is:  In this case, from an evidentiary perspective, have we done that?  Does this project meet that?  We think that that is a reasonable threshold.  

I think the issue that you are getting to is:  Would we ever bring forward an application that was in excess of, or different from the reliability standards?  Would we ever present a project that was for purposes other than system reliability?

My client has told me that there could be circumstances dealing with congestion management where that project would be done not for reliability standards, but for ulterior purposes, like congestion management, which is not, per se, as I understand it, a system-reliability issue, but, rather, a matter relating to the safe, reliable operation of the integrated electric system.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I am not an engineer, so I will have to accept that.

I do wonder if there might be situations where the circumstances - I am grasping here - the terrain, the whatever.  There are some circumstances that the standards themselves don't give you adequate protection for reliability and Hydro One might recommend a more costly project with enhanced reliability beyond the standards, but for reliability purposes.  

Are you suggesting that the standards say it -- have it all?

MR. NETTLETON:  I think the issue is, as it relates to the evidentiary portion of the proceeding, should that type of evidence come in?  Should those types of questions be relevant to the application that is before you?

We say that section 4.2 would allow you the ability or allow a party to say, Tell us about your reliability, how this project meets reliability standards.  If the answer that comes out is it is double the reliability requirements set out in the standards, then I would think that, then, comes to the question of:  Well, why are you doing that?  What is the need that drives that type of requirement?

MS. NOWINA:  I guess I am confusing you by giving you the opposite case.  That would be the opposite of the situation here.  The situation here is that someone else is submitting that the reliability requirements may be greater and wants to have an opportunity to ask questions about that.

My suggestion was that, in the alternative, where Hydro One wanted to have increased reliability requirements, would that not be something that you would think you would bring forward; and, therefore, why not the alternative when it is another party suggesting that?

MR. NETTLETON:  I don't think that we're taking issue with the topic, and that is to say it is a valid area of enquiry.  It is a valid area for parties to consider and test the application and the evidence.

The question that we see is:  Should an area that is really an interrogatory, again, be elevated to the issue list, or are the issues, as defined broadly, ones that need specificity to a point where we're discussing specific right of ways; whether there is a "pejorative" or unacceptable risk.  

The point is: the question of reliability is obviously an area that is on the list.  Everyone has agreed to it.  There is also, on the list, a discussion of project risks.

What more does this particular issue add that would prevent parties or would allow, I guess, Hydro One to step up to say:  "We're not answering this question, because it's not on the issues list"?

I mean, if the issues list was intended to be an all-encompassing document for areas to explore in interrogatories, I would think it would be longer than the seven pages that it is now; but that is not the intent.  

We submit the intent of an issues list is, again, to frame the evidentiary record that you are about to see.  So, again, I think, in our submission, that the issue -- if people want to ask questions about risks and how they were considered in respect of how the project has been applied for, that is in the list, and those are areas that can be explored.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Mr. Sperduti, have I significantly confused things that you need to make further comment?
Further submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  I will make one further comment, Madam Chair, but not because you have confused anything; but rather, the question you put was a clever way of getting at the same question that Powerline is trying to get at, and that is:  Ought the application for leave to construct be granted just because it meets whatever standards Hydro will show you that it meets.

Our position is that this Board's mandate goes further than that, and I think it is informative that my friend managed to avoid the answer to the question at least three times.

So it is clear that this is an issue for the Board to consider, independent of the standards.

And those are our submissions.
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 4.3


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Let's move on.  The next issue is issue 4.3:  
"What has Hydro One does done to make sure that the project is carbon-neutral, given the major woodlands and habitat that will be removed?"


Mr. Sperduti.  

MR. SPERDUTI:  We're going to withdraw that issue, Madam Chair.  

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Is anyone else a proponent of that issue?  Who wants to take it on?  Thank you.  
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 5


MS. NOWINA:  Issue 5:  
"Has Hydro One assessed the impacts of the project on landowners whose lands are not specifically required for the project?"

Mr. Sperduti.
Submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, Madam Chair, I am going to make my submissions on this point.  I think I know what my friend's answer is going to be, but nonetheless, I want it for the record for other reasons.

Powerline's position is that there are a number of landowners who are going to experience impacts arising from the construction of this line -- economic impacts -- which undoubtedly Hydro One will not consider in their evaluation of alternatives and presentation to you concerning whether the project meets the standards of acceptability, or whether the project is acceptable from a rate-reliability perspective.

So we perceive significant economic impacts that will extend beyond the lands required for the corridor.  

In terms of better understanding the project, better understanding the costs, better understanding the risks of the project, this issue is intended to force Hydro One to capture some of those economic issues that they may not otherwise capture, because they haven't looked far enough afield to appreciate those impacts.

So the issue is put there in an effort to ensure that this issue is dealt with squarely by Hydro One, that whatever cost benefit analysis Hydro One does, takes account of the fact of these economic impacts.  And then the Board can decide whether those economic impacts are significant enough to decline the application for leave, or otherwise require it to be amended. 

So that is the rationale for the inclusion of that issue, and those are my submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Sperduti, is what you are interested in taking the proposed project and saying that there are impacts on landowners outside the directly affected ones, and that those impacts should figure -- that therefore the estimate of the project costs would be affected?

Or is it whether or not the assessment of the alternatives has appropriately taken account of the impacts on the landowners directly affected by those alternatives?
MR. SPERDUTI:  Well, I think it is a bit of both, but you drew a distinction between the first part of your question and the second part.

The first part dealt with landowners whose lands are not required for the project.  I'm avoiding using the words "directly affected", because I have some clients who own houses in very close proximity to the proposed line, but are unfortunate enough, I suppose, not to have any land that will be required for the line.  They would consider themselves to be directly affected.

So the distinction in your question may not have been intentional, but the object here is to capture the economic impact of the line on owners -- not only landowners whose lands are required for the project, but also those landowners who will suffer an economic impact as a result of the construction of the line.

We may get into these issues a little bit more when we talk about EMFs, or we may get into these issues if you want to get into a discussion about claims for injurious affection arising independently of, or absent, a taking of land.  Those rights are available to landowners.  They may be difficult claims to make, but those rights are available to landowners under the Expropriation Act.  

So the question for Hydro that is being posed is:  Have you considered these impacts on landowners whose lands are not directly required, and how do they factor into the cost benefit analysis?

MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess I'm trying to understand which side of the equation, because -- 

Are you suggesting that, if they haven't appropriately taken those impacts into account then they have underestimated the cost of the project, because if the claims are successful then the total cost of the project would be higher?

MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Thank you.  

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross or Mr. Fallis, do you want to make submissions on that point?
Submissions by Mr. Fallis


MR. FALLIS:  Madam Chair, we agree with those submissions and only can add that the width of line that is proposed of 175 or 200 feet, the 175 is selected because of its relevance to a lower tower, the 230 kV; the 200 foot distance that is proposed is relevant to an existing 500 kV tower, which is higher and therefore needs further width.

Those are the widths that are involved, and I suppose to that extent, if they were to topple, they would topple within those widths if they were to come down; that's for impact damage below, and people working under it.

The lands that is -- beyond it is -- people may own other land that also own the line, but there may be situations - as Mr. Sperduti has mentioned, and some of my clients fall into exactly that category - where they own land that is not being proposed for being taken, but is dramatically affected by the proposal of the construction.

They have an interest in the outcome.  


Bottom line is that it's something that has to be measured in a cost benefit analysis.  And also there should be a requirement that Hydro undertake that analysis so it can answer questions that the Board may have, which can be directed to the Board through the interrogatory process and also at the actual hearing itself.

So I support the question as being on the issues list, and one that the Board should entertain at the time of the hearing to hear evidence upon that question.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Ross, do you have any comments?
Submissions by Mr. Ross


MR. ROSS:  Just to formally request that we might be able to return to this particular issue tomorrow when the discussion of EMFs does ensue, as I think it is an appropriate factor to be considered when looking at this issue.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will take your submissions now, Mr. Nettleton.
Further submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, just very quickly.  Sorry, I didn't mean to cut you off, Mr. Nettleton.  While we may return to the discussion tomorrow relating to EMFs, I want to be clear Powerline's position isn't that this is an EMF issue.  There are circumstances where claims for injurious affection arise because of loss of vista or other issues that have economic impacts but are not directly related to EMFs.

So success or failure on the EMF issue doesn't affect this issue.  I apologize for interrupting.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Sperduti.  Mr. Nettleton.
Submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Just for planning purposes, Madam Chair, I am hoping that we don't have to come back tomorrow.  I am hoping we would be able to deal with the EMF issues --

MS. NOWINA:  I have a feeling Mr. Klippenstein is interested in the EMF issues.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I can say that Pollution Probe does not intend to make submissions on the EMF issue.

MS. NOWINA:  Pollution Probe does not?  All right.

MR. NETTLETON:  We are quite happy to proceed forward with the EMF issues, and I have let my friend, Mr. Sperduti, know that today.

With respect to the issue at hand, I guess two things come to mind.  My friend, Mr. Sperduti, has indicated that this is a very important issue to his clients as it concerns the topic of injurious affection and the compensation that arises for the taking of interest in land or the non-taking, and the impact caused to non-adjacent landowners.

He has already indicated that, in his view, there are remedies available under the Expropriation Act for that type of taking and for that compensation for that type of situation.

That is important, but it is not relevant to this proceeding, obviously, because that is separate and apart from this proceeding.

Clearly what Mr. Sperduti is intending to do in this proceeding is build the evidentiary record that he wants for purposes related to that subsequent proceeding.

In my respectful submission, Madam Chair, you should be cautious of that fact.  That is an improper purpose.

The question that is relevant to this proceeding relates to whether or not the applied-for project cost estimates are reasonable, and that is an issue that is before you, that is on the agreed-upon list.  It is found in section 2.3.  

We did have some discussion about whether the word "estimate" or not should be included, but Hydro One has provided its estimates of the costs that are associated with the project.

So, Ms. Chaplin, to your point that you raised with Mr. Sperduti, we fully expect parties to ask questions about the derivation of that cost estimate.  That would include our land costs.

Now, clearly, as it relates to the land-cost estimate, there are matters of negotiation.  There are ongoing negotiations contemplated.  That is spelled out in our application.  And there is going to be some sensitivity by Hydro One to get into a level of detail about how and what and to how much individual claims for various components of compensation should be and have been budgeted.

You would expect as much.  That is nothing new.  That is a normal concern, and the process that is before you is ultimately one that takes that into account by looking at cost estimates at a much higher level and, indeed, as the legislation considers, price impacts to consumers.

So, in my respectful submission, if the issue that Mr. Sperduti is raising with you relates to the reasonableness of cost estimates, that is specifically dealt with.  You need not have an issue on the issue list that deals with a specific interrogatory topic.  

But, alternatively, if this is a matter that is really intended for purposes related to expropriation claims and compensation records -- building an evidentiary record for a compensation proceeding under the Expropriation Act, in my respectful submission, that would be an improper purpose.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Mr. Sperduti.
Further submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, of course our position is that there is no improper purpose served by posing this question.  The question is fair.  If you're going to look at costs and benefits and you're going to estimate the impact of the project on ratepayers, then why not look at all of the costs?  Why look at a selection of them?  

So it is in that vein that the question is posed, and those are my submissions in reply.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 6


MS. NOWINA:  Issue 6, Aboriginal peoples' consultation.  Mr. Millar, perhaps you could explain this issue a little to me and what the two proposals are and the proponents of the proposals.

MR. MILLAR:  Fortunately, Madam Chair, I don't think I will have to.  I spoke with my friend, Mr. Nettleton, earlier this morning and they have withdrawn their objection to the way that the issue was originally worded.  

So I don't believe currently there are any objections to the way it is worded under B, which was the original proposal.  Mr. Nettleton can confirm that, I think, but, as far as I am aware, no other party had any issue relating to this.

MR. NETTLETON:  That's correct, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.

Shall we go -- let's take a moment to consult.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. NOWINA:  We are going to take a 15-minute break, and then we will come back and deal with the EMF issues.

--- Recess taken at 3:15 p.m.
--- Upon resuming at 3:30 p.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

PRESENTATION OF ISSUE 1.3 (continued)


MS. NOWINA:  So we are returning to issue 1.3.

"Have all appropriate project risk factors pertaining to the needs and justification, including but not limited to the costs and rate impacts of EMFs, forecasting, technical and financial risks, been taken into consideration in planning this project?"


And the proponent to this issue, or the addition of the phrase "to the cost and rate impact of EMF" is Powerline Connections.


MR. ROSS:  Just prior to commencing that Madam Chair, prior to the break I provided the Board with an article.  I was wondering if it could be filed.  I believe that the Board Staff has a copy.


Unfortunately for the rest of you, especially those without laptops today, I have e-mailed it and don't have hard copies with me, in anticipation that we were dealing with this tomorrow.  So it is in everybody's e-mail; however, I do not have hard copies available at this time.


MS. NOWINA:  Does Mr. Nettleton have a hard copy?


MR. NETTLETON:  No.


MR. ROSS:  He does not.  He has the e-mailed version.


MR. MILLAR:  We can certainly provide at least Mr. Nettleton with a hard copy, I think right now, Madam Chair. 


MS. NOWINA:  I was going to give him mine.  Mr. Nettleton probably needs a hard copy.


MR. MILLAR:  With your permission we will call that Exhibit KI 1.3.  

EXHIBIT NO. KI.1.3: DOCUMENT RELATED TO EMF FILED BY MR. SPERDUTI


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Any other matters?  Mr. Sperduti.  

Submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, Madam Chair, thank you.  


As I started to say before we had deferred this issue, the question of whether or not EMFs are risk factors that ought to be taken into consideration in the context of this proceeding, is something that is certainly, to Powerline's mind, a very real and alive issue.


I don't know whether my friend is going to say that EMFs are environmental issues and, as such, better dealt with in another proceeding, or whether my friend is going to say EMFs don't exist and we are not even going to consider them there.


But regardless, I think that what this Board is charged to do is to assess the project and determine whether it is in the public interest, considering the factors outlined in Section 92.


In terms of demonstrating the relevance of EMFs to this Board's process, I think that our task is to demonstrate to you that the issue is relevant.  And it is relevant if it could have an impact on costs and rates.


Now, the important thing to consider about EMFs in this circumstance is that there are a number of lines here that are being stacked beside each other.  I think it is very clear that there is no clear scientific evidence to say that EMFs cause cancer or childhood leukemia, et cetera, et cetera, but what is clear is that EMFs are a very real cost to the electrical utility business.


The article that I have put to you is an attempt to give you one example of how electromagnetic field mitigation costs factor into the equation that we submit is before the Board on the Section 92 application.  


So I would like to turn up that article and take the Board to a couple of very brief passages from that article.  The article starts with an introduction outlining the purpose of the article and it says:

"Although there is no scientific basis to conclude that electromagnetic fields, EMFs, cause adverse health effects, EMFs are increasingly a subject of controversy in various proceedings to which electric utilities are a party." 


Skipping down to the second paragraph, which starts there: 

"In the meantime, electric utilities are spending significant sums of money on research, education programs, design changes, and litigation fees.  This article addresses who should pay for these costs - ratepayers, utility investors or both - when it is it not known whether and to what degree EMFs may be harmful."


Skipping to your next paragraph – I believe you may have this highlighted in your copy:

"Part 3 of the article analyzes possible ratemaking treatment of EMF-related costs and investments for three scenarios: Currently, when EMF health effects remain uncertain and inconclusive; 2, if EMFs are later determined to be benign; and 3, if EMFs are later determined to be harmful."


So I have pointed the Board to this passage because this is not somebody saying that EMFs cause health issues and therefore there is going to be litigation arising from the health issues, and therefore, this may be a factor for the Board to consider in terms of costs.


This article is here to show that, regardless of the outcome of the health studies, EMFs are imposing and will continue to impose a significant cost in the industry and something that, in this particular instance, with respect to this application for leave to construct, will certainly have a cost impact.  At least we would like to be able to explore the issue with the Board.


I wanted to flip the page, if you will, with me, to what is page 1724 in the top left hand corner of the article.  Under sub-heading B, "EMF-related costs", the author writes:

"One authority estimates that the electric utility industry spends more than one billion dollars on EMF-related expenses a year.  Utilities continue to incur significant expenses related to EMFs, and these expenses eventually will be passed on to ratepayers, or shareholders, or both.  Utilities incur two types of EMF costs.  First, they incur costs siting and constructing a line, such as transmission line design changes to reduce magnetic fields, alternative routes, and costs for purchases of wider rights-of-way.  Secondly, they incur ancillary costs such as severance damages due to EMF fears, litigation expenses to defend against property and personal injury claims, regulatory compliance costs and EMF research costs."


Interesting to see that at least some electric utility companies think there should be an upfront investment in the consideration of EMFs and their impact on ratepayers, sufficient enough to drive an analysis of alternative routes.  And that clearly is something that is squarely before this Board in determining whether or not the proposed route delivers the best pricing quality and reliability of electrical service.  


The article continues to address other concerns about how -- or other ideas about how the effects of EMFs will be passed on to ratepayers and who is going to bear the risk of litigation arising from EMFs, but I don't want to belabour the article.


The point of the article is to demonstrate that this is not an environmental issue.  You don't have to have a clear scientific connection in order to realize that this is an issue that affects the cost of the project, and one that Hydro One should study for the purposes of seeking leave to construct from this Board.


The other thing that I wanted to refer the Board to is a case.  This is a decision, Madam Chair, from the Court of Appeals of New York.  I just wanted to, with your permission, pass this up to you.  I have given a copy to my friend, Mr. Nettleton, but I am not sure I have given copies to Board Staff.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Sperduti.  


MR. MILLAR:  It is a case, Madam Chair?  I'm not sure if you would like this to have an exhibit number or not. 


MR. SPERDUTI:  I don't think it is necessary to have an exhibit number.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't, either.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We won't, then. 

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, do you have this?


MR. NETTLETON:  I do, Madam Chair.


MR. SPERDUTI:  The purpose of presenting this case to you, Madam Chair, is to demonstrate that issue of the economic impact of EMFs does not require - at least in many jurisdictions in the United States, and possibly soon here in Canada - does not require there to be a scientific link between the adverse -- the alleged adverse health impacts and the EMFs. 


It is the fear or the stigma, the public perception, of the impacts of EMFs driving litigation at this time.


This is an example in which the electric utility constructed overhead transmission lines, and they were faced with a lawsuit from an owner who claimed a diminution in their property value as a result.


Just to refer you to a couple of passages in the decision, specifically on page 2 on the right-hand column, I think these words may also be highlighted in your copy, as well:

"The issue in a just compensation proceeding is whether or not the market value has been adversely affected.  This consequence may be present even if the public's fear is unreasonable.  Whether the danger is a scientifically genuine or verifiable fact should be irrelevant to the central issue of its market value impact."


Then further on, the judge here is quoting from another decision from Kansas, the Court of Appeal in Kansas, in which the court there said:  

"Logic and fairness dictated that any loss of market value proven with a reasonable degree of probability should be compensable regardless its source.  If no one will buy a residential lot because it has a high voltage line across it, the lot is a total loss even though the owner has the legal right to build a house on it.  If buyers can be found but only at half the value it had before the line was installed, the owner has suffered a 50 percent loss."


Then, finally, to demonstrate to you how widely this principle is coming to be accepted, over the page, on page 3, the judge indicates:

"Recently Florida, California and Kansas have reaffirmed that reasonableness is not a factor in determining whether consequential damages may be awarded for a diminution or elimination of market value due to fear of health risk from exposure to power lines."


This is New York.  So New York, Florida, California and Kansas at least have said that it doesn't matter whether you can demonstrate a scientific link between adverse health consequences and EMFs; the fact is there is enough of a fear or public stigma associated with it that it causes an economic impact.  


Now, that economic impact is within the purview of this Board's jurisdiction to consider as a project risk factor.  It is a project risk factor.  It must factor into Hydro One's cost benefit analysis.


Insofar as an example of a Canadian court, specifically the Ontario High Court of Justice, looking at the impact of transmission lines in assessing whether or not an owner is entitled to a claim for damages, I have with me a copy of a case entitled Nor Video Services Limited v. Ontario Hydro.  This is a 1978 decision of the High Court of Justice.  Again, I will pass this along with your permission, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Has Mr. Nettleton seen it?


MR. NETTLETON:  No.  Now I have.


MS. NOWINA:  How do you feel about that, Mr. Nettleton?


MR. NETTLETON:  Not good.


MS. NOWINA:  Have a look at it and let me know what you think.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, I want to be very clear about something.


It is clear, from last week, that we were going to make EMFs an issue at today's issues conference.


I find it completely offensive that Mr. Nettleton could possibly object to an under-funded organization like a group of landowners, presenting him with a case he hasn't seen.  Surely, with the resources of Hydro One, he has probably got an army of cases sitting underneath his nose that we haven't seen. 


MS. NOWINA:  I haven't heard him object yet, Mr. Sperduti.  He is just reserving comment.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, this is a case which, again, I am not going to labour into details about, but this is a case in which the owner of a television communication facility claimed damages against Ontario Hydro, as it then was, for the installation of overhead transmission lines.  


The basis for the claim was that the transmission systems interfered with its ability to communicate or issue its signals.


The court there looked at, on page 5 of 11, in the first full paragraph, the issue of sparking and corona.  The court said there:

"Sparking and corona, particularly corona, that they emanate from electrical installations is a well established fact.  There is no mystery about it.  Such transmission systems operating under normal conditions will inevitably generate these sources of interference."


The court went on to find, at page 10 of the decision, the last paragraph on the page, that:

"Nor Video is entitled to recover as damages certain costs and expenses it has incurred and which, in my view, are referable to the nuisance committed by Hydro."


So this case, in my respectful submission, stands for the proposition that not only can EMFs or EMF-related issues ground a claim for loss of market value, as we see in cases arising from the United States, but they can also ground a claim for an action in nuisance.


Given those circumstances and the recognition by the courts that these can, in the right circumstances, be actionable, it is clear that for Hydro One to suggest that the issue is not a relevant risk factor or is not relevant to these proceedings is clearly a misunderstanding or an understatement of the impacts.


The last case that I wanted to refer the Board to is a case that is well known to Mr. Nettleton.  It is a case which we call Tsawwassen.  I suspect Mr. Nettleton, having been involved in the case, knows the facts better than I do, but with his permission or your permission, Madam Chair, I will pass this case up to you, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Sperduti.


MR. SPERDUTI:  This matter, Madam Chair, is ongoing before the courts as we speak.


The Electric Commission's decision was appealed to the courts.  The British Columbia Court of Appeal has spoken on the issue and it is now on appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada.


Now, the fact is that in Canada there is a common-law principle which Madam Justice L'Heureux-Dubé enunciated in a case which we call Spraytech, and we see reference to that case on page 6 of this decision.  


This is a case involving the proposed construction of a transmission line from Vancouver Island to one of the other islands, I believe it is.  Mr. Nettleton, you probably have a better sense of it than I do.  I don't know the geography of British Columbia that well.


But the principle that I wanted to refer you to is at paragraph 24, and there, Madame L'Heureux-Dubé said:
"Environmental measures must anticipate, prevent and attack the causes of environmental degradation.  Where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty should not be used as a reason for postponing measures to prevent environmental degradation."

That principle has been described variously in the case law as "the principle of prudent avoidance" and we see that on page 7 of the decision, at paragraph 28.

This principle of prudent avoidance manifests in the Board's consideration of socio-economic impacts.

Now, in this particular example, the Board found that because of the lack of scientific evidence that EMFs cause harm, the principle of precautionary avoidance or prudent avoidance was not engaged.  And so in that sense, the decision is not of very much assistance in demonstrating that there is success in a lawsuit on this point.

It is being appealed to the Supreme Court of Canada, so whether the Supreme Court of Canada will grant leave or not, we don't know at the present time.  But the reason why I put this case to you, Madam Chair, is to demonstrate that this very issue is being considered in Canada by other regulatory bodies.

Your mandate may be narrower than the mandate of the commission in British Columbia, but nonetheless, our submission is that this Board ought to explore the principle of prudent avoidance in the hearing, to see whether there can be another alternative, or an alternative that creates less of an economic impact, so as to affect or better deliver the product that Hydro One proposes to deliver.

So we put this case to you so that you understand very clearly how alive this issue is in other jurisdictions in Canada.

Our view, Madam Chair, and our submission is that, clearly, the issue of EMFs go well beyond environmental issues.  Courts in other jurisdictions have held that EMFs create an economic harm.  Courts in other jurisdictions -- courts in Ontario -- have held that transmission facilities can, in the right circumstances, ground a claim for nuisance.

In those circumstances, our submission is that including EMFs as a project risk factor, studying the impact of EMFs, the economic impact of EMFs, is clearly within the purview of the Board's mandate, and that Hydro One ought not to be able to brush the issue under the carpet and pretend it doesn't exist by having it excluded from the issues list.

And that submission, of course, relates to two issues on the issues list, the contentious issues list, the disputed list.  That relates to 1.3 and also -- 

MS. NOWINA:  2.2.  

MR. SPERDUTI:  -- 2.2, correct.  Thank you.  

Those are my submissions on that point, Madam Chair.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Sperduti.  Mr. Fallis or Mr. Ross, do you plan to make any submissions on these things?
Submissions by Mr. Fallis

MR. FALLIS:  I have not much to add.  I agree with those submissions entirely.  I am wondering, just procedurally, if one thing could take place, it's that none of the cases have been made an exhibit that are before you.  If the case citations could be read into the record for transcript purposes?  That would be number one.

Secondly, just an observation, as I sort of made mention of before.  The line is 175 feet or 200 feet in width.  Should an environmental assessment determine that the effect of an EMF, potentially, is 500 feet either side of the three towers, or 700 feet on either the side of three towers, the width is not -- the line might be constructed in the location.  It is just the width of the corridor is really what is at stake.

So perhaps the corridor is too narrow.  That may be the thing that will come out of the combination of both the EA and this process; but I think the Board has to be mindful of some of those costs when it goes forward, and perhaps if it sees the terms of reference of the environmental assessment, that may be one of the things that it looks at because of the concern from an EMF point of view: that the width is not sufficiently broad enough to protect from the risk of EMF, and what is that risk.


So I think that is another thing that -- this is a very good reason why those and the cost benefit analysis under the end project need and justification, that the issue 1.3 on the contested list must stay, as well as in project alternatives of 2.2, in the contested list.

Those are my submissions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.  Mr. Ross.  
Submissions by Mr. Ross


MR. ROSS:  Yes.  I, too, adopt the submissions of Powerline, as well as Mr. Fallis.

I would only add, very briefly, that the analysis articulated by Mr. Sperduti when discussing the litigation that has gone on in the United States -- and in doing so articulating the test there doesn't even have to be a reasonable connection between the fear and damages -- that that is the majority view.  I acknowledge that most of the cases in the United States are saying that.

There is also what has been coined, and is pointed out in my article, the "intermediate" view.  And the intermediate view is a slightly more onerous test, and that is that there is a basis in reason or experience for the fear.  This is at page 2, paragraph 2, in the centre of the paragraph:

"That such fear enters into the calculations of the persons who deal in the buying and selling of similar property, and 3, depreciation of market value because of the existence of such fear."

One would think that this more stringent test would obviously have Hydro One breathing, somewhat, a sigh of relief and would result in a different outcome.  But in fact it does not.  Even in the cases that applied this more stringent test, the damages being awarded were, in fact, being awarded.  They were suggesting that there are reasonable grounds to have a connection between the public perception of EMFs and fear, and as a result, a diminution in property value occurred.

There is the more conservative view, which is the minority view in cases in the United States, in that there can be no compensation; and then there is a regulatory view which says:  Well, we're pre-empted - the courts, not the board - the courts are pre-empted from looking into it because it is a regulatory matter, and it would remove things that are appropriately within the purview of that particular commission or board.

But it really is important to note that even the more stringent test finds that the damages can be awarded, and the damages are not insignificant.  

Using the United States example, they're saying if only one percent of the affected land, if there was a diminution in value of one percent of the affected land which they say is in the thousands of properties, it would be a billion dollars in damages.  We can do the ratio math in Canada.  We're one-tenth the size.  You take a billion down to 10 percent - correct me if I am wrong - that is $100 million.  So those are significant.

I agree, this is anecdotal and it is extrapolated on the fly.  But just to give a sense, these are not insignificant damages that are being contemplated.

The other thing that is very important to take into consideration is that the current position with regards to EMF and causation as it relates to cancer, is only as good as the most recent scientific data.  The moment something happens that says "yes or "no" in a way that can be taken to court and fought on, that is the moment that things are going to change.  And if that moment says:  Yes, there is causation between childhood leukemia and EMFs from overhead high voltage transmission lines, it is going to be the new asbestos, and that is also what this article says.  


In these kinds of mass tort situations, it takes a long time before uncontroverted scientific data is in place, because there are very smart litigators on both sides bringing as much to bear as they can to either point out the liability, or, in the instance of the defendant, stop the liability, because a liability of this nature would be profound, to say the least, even in the scheme of something as large as Hydro One.

Subject to any questions, those would be my submissions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.

Mr. Nettleton.
Submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I understand that Mr. Millar is joining me on this side of the issue.  I don't know if Mr. Millar intends to go first or if he wants me to go first.

MR. MILLAR:  I had intended to go after you, actually, but I am indifferent.

MR. NETTLETON:  That's fine.

Prior to the break, Madam Chair, I had suggested that it was an improper purpose for this forum to be a conduit for the gathering of evidence related to what may ultimately be proceedings before and under the Expropriation Act in Ontario.

It strikes me that we are revisiting that same theme with the concerns that both my friend Mr. Ross and Mr. Sperduti have raised with you.

It is now abundantly clear that the matters that they wish to raise as it concerns EMF relate to litigation risk, and relate to matters that have been decided in courts, albeit not in Canada; that relate to damage claims concerning the adverse impacts that New York Court of Appeal justices have allowed.  

But in our respectful submission, none of that is relevant to this proceeding.  The fact is that if parties feel that they have been aggrieved by the operation of infrastructure, whether it is a pipeline or whether it is a transmission line, there are forums for those types of issues to be heard and decided, and those are the courts.

I can't see my friends taking issue with that, because those are the cases that they're relying upon.  They demonstrate that they believe that there are appropriate forums for any assertion that there is, in fact, a forum for the issue of EMF to be debated.

So my first concern and point that I wish to make to you concerns the appropriateness of your forum being used as some form of evidentiary-gathering process for matters that are clearly beyond the scope and purview and that clearly relate to mass tort class actions, or similar types of adventures that my friends may or may not wish to pursue.

I believe, in my respectful submission, that we need to get back to this proceeding.  This proceeding is about a contested issue.  This proceeding is about seven words, and it relates to the issue of whether or not the phrase "the costs and rate impacts of EMFs" should be included in what otherwise is a non-contested issue.

The reasons why Hydro One has opposed the inclusion of that phrase is not for purposes related to having people ask questions about whether Hydro One has considered and what the EMF technical impacts are of its design.  We fully anticipate that the design that we have applied for is going to be tested.  We would expect parties to raise relevant questions about whether or not the design of the proposed option has taken into account EMFs and what that area is.  That's not the intent of the opposition here.

Just before leaving that point, we would see that type of enquiry again coming in under the other elements or even this element of:  Have appropriate project risk factors to the need and justification been taken into consideration in the planning of this project?

We question whether or not there needs to be specific reference to one particular issue, and that relates to EMFs.

The other reason why we oppose the specific inclusion of EMFs in this particular issue is that EMFs do have -- the topic of EMF does have a socio-economic element to it.  It is a matter that is going to be the subject matter of an environmental assessment.

This is the point that, perhaps, Mr. Sperduti is not clear on as it relates to the Vancouver Island Transmission Reinforcement Project and the appeal that is under way in respect of that application.

The BCUC, the British Columbia Utilities Corporation, does, with all due respect, have a much broader public-interest mandate.  What was seized before the British Columbia Utilities Commission in that case was a question of whether the precautionary principle, a principle related to environmental law, was appropriately adopted and considered.  

And, indeed, that discussion is referenced in this decision; namely, how the precautionary principle was interpreted and the fact that the part of the analysis of the issue of EMFs related to health costs, related to potential adverse impacts associated with health, and how and whether they had been appropriately addressed by the proponent in that case.

Well, with all due respect, Madam Chair, that case is much different than this case, because the applications are different.  This Board has legislation that governs the specific issues of enquiry:  price and quality of electricity service.  It isn't expansive to include other matters that may or may not be in the public interest.

This Board is different from the National Energy Board, for example, where public convenience and necessity is the test, not limited by language akin to section 96(2); and nor does the BCUC have similar language that limits its scope of enquiry.

So the case that Mr. Sperduti has provided to you that suggests because it was considered before the BCUC, so, too, it should be considered here; or because in the National Energy Board's international power line case dealing with Sea Breeze there were matters addressed relating to EMFs included in that case.

I mean, those comparisons or because there are cases on point that suggest EMF can be a compensable harm or wrongdoing, all of that is nice, but it has no application to what is before you here.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Nettleton --

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But would it not go to financial risk, which is one of the ones -- I mean, you have suggested that perhaps some aspects of the question in dispute is subsumed in the identification of technical risks, but it seems to me that what Mr. Sperduti has described as primarily a financial risk, i.e., the cost of the project, has perhaps been significantly underestimated because of what the ultimate financial impact may be.  

And if my understanding is correct, would you agree that even if the disputed words were removed, that that would be an appropriate line of enquiry under this concept of financial risk?

MR. NETTLETON:  I think, in my respectful submissions, Madam Chaplin, the scope of financial risk could very well take into account litigation risk, or has there been -- you know, has Hydro One considered litigation risk associated with this project.


I would be very wary to consider strategies or defences or matters relating to how Hydro One is planning to address the issue of potential litigation risk associated with this project as being matters that would be the subject of detailed enquiry in this proceeding.

I would think, however, that the identification of that potential risk, as a financial risk, makes logical sense.  But, again, it goes to the question of:  How deep do you go?  How much enquiry is appropriate?  

It may very well be that we have to determine those sorts of issues on a case-by-case, question-by-question basis through the interrogatory process.  But there will obviously be some litigation privilege that will have to be taken into account, if and when we get into detailed discussion about has Hydro One developed a fund for potential nuisance cases that may arise out of this project?  If Mr. Sperduti is correct that it is a compensable harm, in Ontario.

The point is this: as it relates to your broader mandate, that is price and quality of electricity service, the topic of EMF strikes me to be a subset or subcomponent of potential relevance, as it concerns the technical design of the project and how Hydro One has technically addressed its mind to that topic.  


As it relates to compensable harms for damages or matters relating to injurious affection, those matters of compensation are all related to matters beyond the scope of this proceeding.  They relate to expropriation proceedings or, potentially, civil litigation matters that, again, fall beyond the scope of this proceeding.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But Mr. Nettleton, if we're examining the costs and if we're examining the rate impact, and the rate impact arises from the costs, and if, for example, the potential cost impact of litigation from this factor or perhaps other factors is of a material impact on the costs, then surely we need to examine that.

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chaplin, I don't want to suggest that the concept of financial risk and price impacts related to this project, are not areas of enquiry, relevant enquiry.  They are.

All I'm suggesting here is that, when you start talking about potential litigation and when you drill down to the potential litigation associated with one specific cause of action, the question is:  When does litigation privilege kick in?  As opposed to a more higher level discussion of:  What are the financial risks associated with this project; Have those financial risks been appropriately considered, and are there things that Hydro One needs to further consider or take into account?

But addressing one particular item like EMF, and singling it out and including it in the issues list as it has been proposed, in my respectful submission, is not consistent with the remainder of the issues that are intended to be addressed in this proceeding.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  My friend also referred to the Nor Video case. The Nor Video case was about interference with a cable, with how the hydro line interfered with a reception on a cable line, and whether or not it was a compensable nuisance.  The courts found that it was.

Again, I am not sure what or how that relates to the question that is before you today.  It would strike me as a case of some interest to say, yes, this is -- in these facts, situations, that EMF or some compensable harm has been found to exist, and paid.

But how it relates to the evidentiary scoping of this proceeding is really what the purpose of this hearing, today's hearing, is about.  And as we come to the end of this proceeding today, it strikes me that there is a significant difference between the expectations of what the issues list is intended for.

Is it intended for the purposes as I have articulated, namely to help scope the evidentiary record of this proceeding?  Or is it intended to be a means of developing an application-specific filing requirement list?  Are these the topics that Hydro One is expected to have its application adopt?

In my respectful submission, that is not the case.  In my respectful submission, the application has been filed; it has been accepted.  It meets the Board's filing requirements.

It is inappropriate to have issues lists developed for purposes to say:  Hydro One, you need to now go out and do an analysis of EMF, because the analysis that you have done isn't sufficient; so says the issue list.  That isn't the intent, in my respectful submission, of the issues list.

The issues list is intended to say:  Here is the scope of the evidence that we, the Board, are expecting parties to address in this proceeding.

Those are my submissions, Madam Chair.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  

Mr. Millar.  
Submissions by Mr. Millar


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you Madam Chair.  As Mr. Nettleton said, I tend to agree with him on this issue and I don't plan to repeat any of the points he has already made.  So I will add just a few comments. 

I think what we see here is that Mr. Sperduti is a good lawyer.  He has gone and read the Act, and just like everyone in this room, he understands that Section 96 only allows issues on the issues list within the Board's jurisdiction that deal with price, reliability and quality of service.

So what he has done is he has attempted to frame issue that might normally be regarded as an environmental or health issue, and he has tried to show the Board how there maybe cost impacts related to that.

So that is the method he seeks to put this on the issues list.  The costs that he sees, or the possible costs he is arguing about -- he lists a few things, but I think the most important one is the threat that Hydro One will be sued over EMFs, there will be litigation costs relating to that.

I think I have a couple of responses to that.  In the first instance, as Mr. Nettleton said, I don't think he is disputing that the litigation risk in a general sense is something that is within the scope of this proceeding.  But I think we can all think of any number of things that Hydro One could be sued for.  I mean, they're probably sued all the time.  I have no idea.  Maybe Mr. Nettleton knows.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe not all the time, we would hope, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  No.  But again, we can't prevent people from suing Hydro One, and we can't prevent -- not to necessarily say EMF is a nuisance claim, but nuisance claims can come in all the time and there are costs associated with that.  The lines adversely affect their view, and maybe they will sue Hydro One for that.  Maybe a local airport will decide that the lines are too high, and in a few years sue to have them moved, or something like that.  


It is impossible at this stage for anyone to say with any certainty what Hydro One may be sued for in the future.  Those are the real costs that I think Mr. Sperduti was getting at.

Typically, I guess at the very highest level, to ask if litigation risk has been considered, the Board doesn't look into potential -- there is nothing that has even been filed here.  These are just a hint that at some time it is possible there may be a lawsuit in the future related to EMFs.

So I want you to think about, if this is allowed within the scope of this application, what it would mean to actually test this evidence and to review it.  In my mind, you would have a lot of things to consider.  

The first would be if there are any actual risks or dangers related to EMFs.  It looks like the current state of the literature is that there isn't, or there are no real risks, although again, I only have a couple of things in front of me.  I don't see anything suggesting there is real scientific proof that there are adverse health impacts, but you would have to look into that.  That would be opened up.

I think what Mr. Sperduti -- in fairness to him and some of the others have said is:  Even if it is not actually a danger, there may be a perceived danger and that may lead to successful claims.  But even if you take out the actual risk factors of EMFs, you would have to look at what are the likelihoods of lawsuits. What are the likelihoods of success of those lawsuits?  Without analysing if EMF is actually a danger or not, I don't know how you would look at that.  

Then you would have to consider:  Well, will they settle?  How much will they sue for?  Maybe they will pay somebody to make this go away on a nuisance basis, or maybe they will ultimately be successful.  How much will they win?

Because in order to -- if we're going to tie this to a price issue, you have to come up with -- not an exact number, no one would suggest that; but you would have to have a ballpark number.  Absent any lawsuits even being filed, I can't imagine how you would come to a reasonable ballpark guess as to what these potential costs might be.  It is all much too premature.  I don't think we could ever come to a figure.  I think that we would be here weeks arguing about it.  It is not a simple matter to go through.


That is not to say that just because something is hard to get a number means the Board should ignore it, but what I am saying is, when you take into account that at least on its face EMF does not relate to price reliability or quality - it really does seem more of a health and environmental issue that could be dealt with through the 

EA - if we're going to allow something like this in, we really have to think of the repercussions and how much hearing time something like this could take.  


That is the whole reason we have these issues days is to try and frame the issues so we don't spend a whole lot of time in the hearing room on issues that turn out to not be relevant.


So, Madam Chair, those are my submissions on this issue.  Again, I tend to adopt what Mr. Nettleton has said.  And subject to any questions you may have, that is it from me.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

Further submissions by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I was remiss.  I didn't respond to Mr. Sperduti's article of Ms. Bogardus.  Let me briefly do that.


This is an article some 13 years ago that was prepared.  On page 2, the article states that:

"this article addresses who should pay for these costs...", these costs being EMF costs, "...ratepayers, utility investors or both, when it is not known whether and to what degree EMFs may be harmful."


The article goes on to talk about, at page 1733, the rate-making treatment of future expenses if EMFs are later found to be harmful.


My simple observation, Madam Chair, is that we are quickly getting into a situation of discussing a topic that has rate-making and cost-allocation issues.  If the intent of this proceeding or the intent of including EMFs in this proceeding, as is suggested in this article that is relied upon by Mr. Sperduti, is to have a discussion about rate allocation and rate-making matters, again, in our respectful submission, that is not a proper purpose.  That is beyond the scope of this proceeding.


This proceeding is not about rate-making and rate-setting matters.


That said, on page 1725 and in respect of the reference that Mr. Sperduti read into the record relating to the costs of siting and constructing a line such as transmission line design changes to reduce magnetic fields.  My simple response to that passage is, again, Hydro One has proposed a technical design for its project.


Hydro One does anticipate parties exploring with it questions about how EMFs have been taken into account in that technical design.  It is not that we are seeking to have EMFs taken out and excluded entirely, in their entirety, from this proceeding.  But what we see it as is a matter that is and should be limited to technical design elements of what Hydro One has proposed.


Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sperduti.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Actually, Madam Chair, I wonder if I could barge in for a moment before you go back --


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Mr. Stephenson.  Sure.

Submissions by Mr. Stephenson


MR. STEPHENSON:  Just very briefly, Power Workers' Union supports the position of Hydro One and Board Staff on this issue for the following reason.  Essentially, we see this as an issue of materiality.


I think what Hydro One wants to avoid, in our view legitimately, is turning this hearing into some kind of broad-ranging public enquiry into the health risks of EMFs in some respects; a royal commission, if you will.  And, in our view, that is an entirely legitimate concern.


I think Board Staff correctly identify that you can turn any issue into an economic issue by simply saying there is a risk that if someone doesn't get what they want, they can sue Hydro One about it, and that has costs associated with it.  But that doesn't mean that it is not too speculative for this Board to consider and to devote its time to.


In our view, the issue is also -- in addition to being speculative, also there is a materiality question about it.


Mr. Nettleton has indicated that Hydro One is prepared to deal with this at the level of technical design, and it seems to me that is entirely appropriate.  But, I mean, think about how this Board is going to be dealing with this case, and I invite you to remind yourselves, by looking at the paper about the filing requirements in these cases, to sort of the scope of how you would expect to deal with it.


But this issue, by the time you get to this issue, you've already, at least theoretically, decided the issue of project need, that there is a need for the project.


So the next question you get to, leaving aside the design question with respect to the particular proposal, is really the project alternatives.  What we're talking about, in terms of project alternatives in this case, it seems to me there are three broad alternatives once you have determined need.  There is the proposal; there is Bruce to Essa; and then there is some other new corridor somewhere.  Those are the three broad alternatives.


So to the extent there is some potential liability issue arising from the proposal -- and I'm dealing with this at an intuitive level here.  If we're talking about the alternatives and we're talking about Bruce to Essa, there is an EMF issue on Bruce to Essa as well, and you would have double stacked lines on Bruce to Essa.  


So you're not -- unless somebody is going to argue there is a materially different EMF risk going on Bruce to Essa, that doesn't strike me as being a major issue for the Board to consider from a perspective of alternatives.


Then you've got the issue, Well, if we're not going Bruce to Essa, you're going on some entirely new corridor, presumably.  Well, of course, the question of EMF doesn't go away there, either, of course.  And the difference in that case, of course, is you're introducing large-scale transmission corridor and associated EMFs into an area that previously didn't have it.  So admittedly, that is a different EMF issue, but it is not that there isn't an EMF issue there, as well.


And so what's the Board's supposed to do about all of that?  How is that going to assist the Board in its selection of -- or in terms of resolving the matter it has to resolve, which is:  Is the proposal -- has it met the standard, including need and including a determination of comparative alternatives?


In my submission, there is -- I suppose there is two alternatives.  Either you're going to view that there is -- to the extent it is a risk, there is a risk in all alternatives and there is no qualitative or quantitative materiality you can figure out; or you are going to do a public enquiry into EMFs and try to come up with a scientific answer to this.


In my submission, there is just no suggestion that the risk is material enough or not speculative enough from the perspective of economic impact, which is the issue you have to determine, that it is appropriate for you to even go down that road.  


In my submission, it is clear that what's being done here is to set up some kind of broad-ranging enquiry into this issue, and, frankly, this isn't the time, this isn't the place and this isn't the application to do that.


Those are my submissions.  Thanks.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Mr. Sperduti.

further submissions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, I fear my friends have taken a far too narrow interpretation of our position.  This isn't simply a question about litigation costs, and we can't stop people from suing Hydro One.  I accept that.  You can't stop people from suing Hydro One.


But assume, for example, during the course of this process, evidence comes out about the extension of the field or the expansion of the field associated with adding yet another line to the existing two or one or three, however many there already are in different places.  Assume, for example, that there was evidence about the economic impact of the expansion of that field.  

You might hear evidence from the landowners to the effect that, as Mr. Fallis suggested, maybe the corridor should be widened.  Maybe the lands that are acquired, or maybe the project that is undertaken, should be broader, in terms of its scope of land required so as to mitigate those costs.  This isn't just about:  Well, Hydro One can be sued and we have to estimate those costs, and maybe it will be difficult to do that, and it will take a lot of time to do it.

I don't accept that those are reasons for the Board not to undertake the enquiry.  But it isn't just about estimating the litigation costs and factoring that in.  It goes right to the very heart of the alternative that is being proposed, and maybe -- and I don't mean to prejudge the issue -- maybe that will lead us to a resolution on the application for leave or decision of the Board that will take into account that expanded field, the economic impacts of doing so, and how best to mitigate that impact so as to deliver a better cost product.

Now, maybe -- you know, I don't mind anybody telling me I'm a good lawyer.

[Laughter]


MR. SPERDUTI:  But whether that is true or not, I haven't just tried to limit this issue to the very issue that is before the Board.  I have done it, because the issue reads:  "Have all appropriate project risk factors pertaining to the need and justification, including but not limited to the costs and rate impacts of EMFs..."

This is relating to pricing and cost.  Now, I don't know whether that satisfies Mr. Stephenson about whether this will turn into a public enquiry.  I think that is maybe a bit of an exaggeration.  But whatever it turns into, that's the Board's mandate, and we have deliberately scoped the issue so as to bring it within the Board's mandate, so that we're not going to go on a far-ranging exercise in futility. 

It may be that there is a zero sum game here.  The impact of EMFs in this corridor just gets transferred to somewhere else.  But who is going to study that unless it is part of the enquiry?  How will the Board assess whether it is a zero sum game if nobody looks at it, or if the economic impacts of the expansion of this field, along this route, are considered and weighed in respect of the project and the alternatives?

So I didn't mean to sound as though my submissions were being limited to how much is this all going to cost.  I referenced the cases to show that the cost is real.  That it is a factor that ought to be considered by the Board.  Not to say that I want disclosure from Hydro One about its litigation strategy in defending the claims, or estimating the number of claims and how much they're worth.

But to the extent that we are able to ascertain from looking at how this field is going to be expanded, and how to mitigate that cost, that is certainly a relevant enquiry for the Board.

So I urge you to take some comfort in the very specific language that is included in the issue.  And there had been an earlier version of this issue that was a broader-ranging health impact sort of analysis; that was eliminated, withdrawn, in favour of a more scoped issue that deals with the Board's jurisdiction.

The issues about litigation privilege, what level of disclosure should Hydro One be forced to make, those are evidentiary issues.  Those are matters for debate later on, by way of motion or otherwise.  But to eliminate the issue now from the issues list does exactly what Mr. Nettleton suggests it will do, which is to scope the evidence.

So my suggestion, in response to my friend's concern about improper purpose or litigation privilege, if we ask a question that Hydro thinks crosses the line, they will refuse to answer it.  Then we will be at the Board deciding whether it is a proper question.  

But to say, at this early stage in the process, that EMFs are not a project risk, or that there is something offensive about including the mere reference to EMFs as part of the project risks in the issues list, I think that is unnecessary.  


The other concern I have about my friends' submissions, and this is both Mr. Nettleton's submissions and Mr. Millar's submissions, is:  If we don't look at EMFs in this process, when are we going to look at them?  Either it is an EA issue, which my friend said it was at first.  But then he decided it was a ratemaking issue.  So it is everybody's issue but ours, in this proceeding.  


My suggestion is that, provided that the evidence is scoped, provided that it is limited to the Board's jurisdiction, there is no reason why this issue shouldn't be on the issues list.  The Board, I'm sure, will be very diligent to make sure that we don't turn this into a public inquiry.  It has a mandate, and the issue reflects that.

I am just reviewing my notes of everybody else's submissions, Madam Chair, so I make sure that I respond to the important points.

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Sperduti.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Mr. Millar in his submissions admitted that just because it may be difficult to assess the costs or the economic impacts of the expansion of this field along this line.  Just because that may be difficult or time consuming, that is not a reason to avoid the necessity to do it.

My submission to you is that it is part of your mandate.  If it takes a couple of weeks, it takes a couple of weeks.  To the landowners who are affected, better to spend the time now than after it is constructed.  Because by that time, respectfully, it will be too late.

Finally, Madam Chair, this is yet another example of Hydro courting a risk that may or may not concern them, but certainly concerns the landowners.

EMFs clearly pose a risk.  It may be the health research isn't conclusive, but they certainly pose an economic risk, because the threshold is lower.

Hydro One is prepared to advance this application ignoring that risk, or not dealing with it square on and putting it off for another day.  And respectfully I say to the Board:  Hydro One ought not to be permitted to do that, because ultimately that risk is one that will be borne by the ratepayers.

If it is a risk, let's deal with it and let's deal with it now, before the line is approved and built.

If it is not a risk, or if the economic impacts are negligible, or if they can't be proven, then at least we've had the enquiry and at least Hydro One has undertaken the work.  This will satisfy the landowners, as long as we accept the responsibility and do the work.  I don't think it is sufficient to put it off for another day and say:  This is for somebody else to decide in another process and another venue.

It is a risk that clearly could affect your mandate, and our submission to you at the end of the day will be that it is a risk that outweighs -- possibly, our submission will be that it is a risk that outweighs the need and justification for that project.  Let's not prejudge that now.  We will have that argument when the time comes.

Those are my submissions in reply.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Sperduti.

Mr. Millar, Mr. Fallis mentioned that we needed to ensure that the case citations were properly on the record.  I am not certain that they are.  Should we do that now?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair, if I could just find the cases.  There is the case before the Court of Appeals of New York called Joseph -- I will spell it out -- C-R-I-S-C-U-O-L-A, Joseph Criscuola v. Power Authority of the State of New York.  I am not familiar with American citations, but it appears to be 81 NY 2nd, 649.

Then there is the 2007 case from BC called Tsawwassen Residents Against Higher Voltage Overhead Line Society and British Columbia Utilities Commission.  The citation is 2007 B.C.J. No. 720.

The final case I seem to be missing.  I'm wondering if Mr. Sperduti could read it into the record, if he has it handy.

MR. SPERDUTI:  That's the Nor Video Services?  

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  I do have it here.  It is Nor Video Services Limited and Ontario Hydro, a case from 1978, and the citation is 19 OR 2nd 107.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Are there any further matters today?  Thank you, everyone, for your attention.  We are now adjourned for today until we have the oral hearing.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:42 p.m.
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